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These Listing Particulars (the “Listing Particulars”) are issued by Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd 
(IHL)  in relation to the offer and issue by way of private placement of the fixed rate secured 
notes as further described in this document (the “Notes”) and subsequent listing of the Notes 
on the Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd (“SEM”).   

These Listing Particulars have been prepared in compliance with the Listing Rules of the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius Ltd, the Securities Act 2005, the Securities (Preferential Offer) Rules 
2017 and contains relevant information relating to the offer and placement of the Notes 
described herein, and the Official Listing of such Notes on the Official Market of the SEM. 

Neither these Listing Particulars nor any information contained herein relating to the Notes 
may be treated as a prospectus for the purposes of the Securities Act 2005 or be released to the 
public. Accordingly, nothing in this document shall be construed as an offer to sell Notes to 
the public in Mauritius or elsewhere. The Notes are intended to be distributed by way of 
private placement only as further described herein.  

The circulation and distribution of these Listing Particulars in certain jurisdictions may be 
restricted by law. Persons who may come into possession of these Listing Particulars are 
required to inform themselves of, and to observe, any such restrictions. These Listing 
Particulars does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, a security in 
any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such an offer or to any person to whom it is 
unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. This document is not meant 
to be redistributed, reproduced, or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose.  

An application has been made to the SEM for the listing of up to 1,200,000 Notes on the Official 
Market of the SEM. 

The Company has not, and does not, intend to apply for listing of the Notes on any other 
securities exchanges in Mauritius or abroad. 
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Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd 
(Formerly S.L.D Investment Ltd) 

Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius 
Registration number: C08081082 

Having its registered address at Lot 22, Bank Street 
Ebene Cybercity, Ebene, Mauritius 

SEM code: [ ] 
ISIN: [ ] 

LEC/P/09/2021 
 (“IHL”, the “Company”, or the “Issuer”) 

 
 

LISTING PARTICULARS 

 

These Listing Particulars are issued by Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd. IHL is a company 
incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius under the Companies Act 2001 on 9 June 2008 as 
a private company limited by shares (under the name of S.L.D Investment Ltd) with 
Business Registration Number C08081082. The name of the Company was changed from 
S.L.D Investment Ltd to Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd with effect from 3 December 2020, and 
IHL was also converted into a public company limited by shares on 8 March 2021. 

The attention of readers is drawn to section 3, which contains a summary definition of all 
key terms used in these Listing Particulars. 

For a full appreciation of the Listing Particulars, the document should be read in its entirety. 
If you are in any doubt about the contents of this document you may consult an independent 
qualified person who may advise you accordingly. 

This document does not constitute an invitation to the public to subscribe for Notes in IHL. 
The Company is currently undertaking a private placement of Notes which opened on 10 
August 2021 and which is expected to close on 19 October 2021.  The Notes were offered 
only to a few ‘qualified investors’ (as this term is defined in Chapter 18 Part B of the SEM 
Listing Rules, that is investors who are knowledgeable and understand the risks of 
investing in specialist debt instruments and include but are not limited to expert investors 
as defined in the Securities (Collective Investment Schemes and Closed-end Funds) 
Regulations 2008) by the Company. The total cost of investment for each person to whom 
the Offer is made must be for an amount of at least MUR 1 million and each person must 
subscribe or purchase Notes for their own account. 

 2021 

Opening date of the Offer at 09:00 (Mauritius time) on 10 August 

Closing date of the Offer at 12:00 (Mauritius time) on 19 October 

Payment date 22 October 

Issue date 22 October 
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A copy of these Listing Particulars is available in English only, accompanied by the 
documents referred to under “Documentation available for inspection” as set out in 
section 11.5 of these Listing Particulars. 

These Listing Particulars may be distributed to targeted investors in connection with the 
private placement. It is issued in compliance with the Securities Act 2005 and the Securities 
(Preferential Offer) Rules 2017 for the purpose of giving information to targeted investors, 
and pursuant to the SEM Listing Rules governing the listing of the Securities on the 
Official Market of the SEM. 

The directors, whose names appear on pages 50 and 51, collectively and individually, 
accept full responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the information contained 
in these Listing Particulars and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries that to the 
best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts the omission of which would make 
any statement herein misleading. 

The distribution of these Listing Particulars and the placing, sale or delivery of the Notes 
is restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Therefore, persons who may come into 
possession of these Listing Particulars are advised to consult their own legal advisors as 
to what restrictions may be applicable to them and to observe such restrictions. These 
Listing Particulars may not be used for the purpose of an offer or invitation in any 
circumstances in which such offer or invitation is not authorised. 

Targeted investors should not treat the contents of these Listing Particulars as advice 
relating to legal, taxation, investment or any other matters. Targeted investors should 
inform themselves as to (i) the legal requirements within their own respective country for 
the purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of the Notes; (ii) any foreign exchange 
restrictions applicable to the purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of the Notes 
which they may encounter; (iii) the income and other tax consequences which may apply 
in their own countries as a result of the purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of the 
Notes. Targeted investors must rely on their own representatives, including their own 
legal advisors and accountants, as to legal, tax, investment or any other related matters 
concerning the Company and an investment therein. These Listing Particulars should be 
read in its entirety before making any application for the Notes. 

Investors should take into account that there are certain risk factors which may affect the 
Company’s future performance and the industry in which it operates; these include (but 
are not limited to) risks associated with (i) economic, social, environmental and political 
matters in Mauritius and in the countries where tenants of the Company derive their 
business revenue (ii) leasehold lands, (iii) the lessee meeting its rental obligations, (iv) 
natural disaster and damage, and (v) interest rate and taxation. Accordingly, it is strongly 
recommended that targeted investors read the section entitled “Risk Factors” set out in 
section 9 of this document for a more detailed discussion of the factors that could affect 
the Company’s future performance and the industry in which it operates.  

Certain information contained herein has been obtained from industry sources and other 
published sources prepared by third parties. The Board has not independently verified 
and cannot assure the accuracy of any data obtained from such sources. While such 
sources are believed to be reliable, neither the Company nor its Directors assumes any 
responsibility for the accuracy of such information. 

These Listing Particulars do not purport to be all-inclusive or to contain all the information 
that a prospective investor may desire in evaluating the Issuer. Each investor 
contemplating investing in the Notes should make its own independent investigation and 
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appraisal of the financial condition and affairs, and of the creditworthiness of, the Issuer, 
and the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved in making an 
investment decision with respect to the Notes. The investment activities of some investors 
may be subject to investment laws and regulations, or review or regulation by certain 
authorities. Investors are advised to consult their investment adviser, investment dealer, 
tax adviser or legal advisers to ensure compliance with their investment policy before 
making any investment decision in relation to the Notes. 

Furthermore, nothing in these Listing Particulars shall be construed as a recommendation 
by the Issuer that any recipient thereof should invest in the Notes.  

 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

These Listing Particulars contain forward looking statements that are, by their nature, 
subject to significant risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements include 
statements relating to: 

 the Company’s investment and operating strategies; 

 the amount and nature of, and potential for, future development of the 
Company’s business; 

 various investment opportunities that the Company may pursue; 

 the prospective financial information regarding the Company; 

 the regulatory environment relating to the Company; 

 changes in political, economic, legal and social conditions and risks in any 
selected markets in which the Company will invest; and 

 other factors beyond the Company’s control. 

In some cases, forward looking statements are identified by such terminology as 
"may," "will," "should," "could," "would," "expect," "intend," "plan," "anticipate," "going 
forward," "ought to," "seek," "project," "forecast," "believe," "estimate," "predict," 
"potential" or "continue" or the negative of these terms or other comparable 
terminology. Such statements reflect the current views of the Company with respect 
to future events, operations, results, liquidity and capital resources and are not 
guarantees of future performance and some of which may not materialise or may 
change.  Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in these 
forward-looking statements are reasonable, it cannot assure targeted investors that 
those expectations will prove to be correct, and such investors are cautioned not to 
place undue reliance on such statements.  

In addition, unanticipated events may adversely affect the actual results the Company 
achieves. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from  
expectations are disclosed under the section entitled "Risk Factors" in these Listing 
Particulars.  Except as required by law, the Company undertakes no obligation to 
update or otherwise revise any forward-looking statements contained in these Listing 
Particulars, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise after 
the date of these Listing Particulars.  All forward looking statements contained in these 
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Listing Particulars are qualified by reference to the cautionary statements set forth in 
this section. 

None of the LEC, the SEM or the FSC assumes any responsibility for the contents of 
these Listing Particulars. The LEC, the SEM and the FSC make no representation as to 
the accuracy or completeness of any of the statements made or opinions expressed in 
these Listing Particulars and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss 
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part thereof. 
 
Permission was granted by the LEC on 29 September 2021 in respect of the listing of 
up to 1,200,000 Notes on the Official Market of the SEM. 

The Notes will be listed on the Official Market of the SEM on or about 22 October 2021. 
On the first day of trading, 500 Notes will be made available on the market at an 
indicative price of MUR 1,000 per note (the indicative prices will be adjusted to the 
nearest tick size as per Trading Procedures). 

A copy of these Listing Particulars will be available for inspection during normal 
business hours at Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd, 22 Bank Street, Cybercity, Ebene, 
Mauritius for a period of 14 days and starting from 29 September 2021.    

A copy of these Listing Particulars have been filed with the FSC. 

Company secretary   Arranger, Transaction advisor and 
Book Runner and SEM Authorised 

Representative & Sponsor 

 

MR YVES MEYEPA  

  

Legal advisor  Auditors 

 

 

 

DELOITTE 

Noteholders’ Representative and 
Security Agent 

 Registrar, Transfer, Paying and 
Calculation Agent 

 

SBM FUND SERVICES LTD 

 
M.C.B. REGISTRY AND SECURITIES 

LTD. 

Escrow Bank   
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Date and place of incorporation of the Company: 9 June 2008, Mauritius 

Date of issue of these Listing Particulars: 29 September 2021 
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CORPORATE INFORMATION AND FUNCTIONARIES 

Registered office and postal address of the 
Company Company Secretary 

Lot 22, Bank Street, Ebene Cybercity 

Ebene 

 

Mr Yves Meyepa 
 
Lot 22, Bank Street, Ebene Cybercity 
Ebene 

Transaction Advisor, Arranger, Book 
Runner, Placing Agent and SEM Authorised 
Representative & Sponsor 

Mauritian Banker and Escrow Bank 

Perigeum Capital Ltd 

Level 3, Alexander House 

35 Cybercity, Ebene, 72201 

Mauritius 

SBM Bank (Mauritius) Ltd 

State Bank Tower 1 

Queen Elizabeth II Avenue 

Port Louis 

Mauritius 

Auditors Legal Adviser 

Deloitte 

7th Floor, Standard Chartered Tower 

19-21 Bank Street 

Cybercity, Ebene 72201 

Mauritius 

BLC Robert & Associates  

2nd Floor, The Axis  

26 Bank Street, Cybercity 

Ebene 72201 

Mauritius  

Registrar, Transfer, Paying and Calculation 
Agent   

Noteholders’ Representative and Security 
Agent 

M.C.B. Registry and Securities Ltd.  

9th Floor, MCB Centre 

Sir William Newton Street 

Port Louis 

Mauritius 

  

SBM Fund Securities Ltd,  

SBM Tower, 1, Queen Elizabeth II  
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Port-Louis,  
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1 STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTORS 

The definitions set out in section 3 (Glossary of Terms) of these Listing Particulars have, where 
appropriate, been used in this section. 

The Directors, whose names appear in Section 8.2 of these Listing Particulars,  

(i) accept responsibility for the contents or completeness of these Listing 
Particulars;  

(ii) declare that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, and after making 
reasonable enquiries, these Listing Particulars comply with the Listing 
Rules of the SEM, the Securities Act 2005 and the Securities (Preferential 
Offer) Rules 2017, the information contained in these Listing Particulars 
is in accordance with facts and the Listing Particulars makes no 
omission likely to affect the import of such information; 

(iii) declare that information sourced from a third party have been 
accurately reproduced and that as far as the Company is aware and is 
able to ascertain from information published by that third party, no 
facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced 
information inaccurate or misleading; 

(iv) declare that any forecasts, estimates or projections of the Issuer 
provided in the Listing Particulars have been made after due and 
careful enquiry;  

(v) declare that no change in the nature of the business of the Company is 
being contemplated following the issue of the Notes and the subsequent 
listing on the Official Market of the SEM; and 

(vi) declare that there have been no material changes in the financial 
position or trading position of the Company since the last audited 
accounts, except for the acquisition of the issued share capital of 
Hennessy Tower Development Ltd, which owns 5 floors of a building 
in Port-Louis (Hennessy Tower) valued at MUR 173.95 million.  The 
Directors, after having made due and careful enquiry, are of the opinion 
that the working capital available to the Issuer will be sufficient to 
satisfy its present requirement, for at least twelve months from the date 
of issue of these Listing Particulars.  

APPROVAL BY DIRECTORS 

Approved by the board of directors of the Company on 9 August 2021 and signed on 
its behalf by: 

 Bhanu P. Jaddoo    Christine John Chuan  

Director     Director 

 

 

 ………………………..    ……………………….. 
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2 SALIENT FEATURES OF THE NOTES 

The information disclosed in this section is a summary of the terms of the Fixed Rate Secured 
Notes and is qualified by the other provisions of these Listing Particulars. The full terms are 
disclosed in Section 4 (Terms and Conditions of the Notes). 

General information 

Company Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd 

ISIN Number Will be provided by the SEM at the time of listing 

Instrument Fixed Rate Secured Notes 

Currency MUR 

Purpose 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The proceeds from the issuance of the Notes will be used 
as follows:- 

 MUR 

Repayment of Existing Indebtedness 687.2 M 

Payables due to sister companies within 
the HYVEC Group 

307.2 M 

Listing and capital raising expenses 5 M 

Payment of lease liabilities on leasehold 
land 

0.6 M 

 1,000 M 

 

In the event of an oversubscription of up to MUR 1.2 
Billion, the additional proceeds of MUR 200 Million from 
the issuance of the Fixed Rate Secured Notes will be used 
in the following manner: 

 MUR 104,770,155 will be earmarked towards 
settlement of payables due to sister companies 
within the HYVEC Group; and 

 The remainder will be maintained by the Issuer as 
strategic reserves to finance future investment 
needs. 
 

Issuance information 

Aggregate Principal Amount MUR 1 Billion 

Permitted Oversubscription Up to MUR 1.2 Billion 

Principal Amount per Note MUR 1,000 
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Issue Price per Note 100% of the Principal Amount per Note 

Minimum Subscription 
Amount 

MUR 1 Million  

Minimum Amount raised to 
proceed with the Issuance 

55% of Aggregate Principal Amount 

Form of the Issuance The Notes will be issued in inscribed form - no certificates 
will be issued 

Status of the Notes The Notes will constitute senior secured obligations of the 
Issuer, with the ranking being as hereunder: 

1. Senior to all classes of the share capital of the Issuer; 

2. Senior to an amount due to the ultimate beneficial 
owner on account of properties acquired by the Issuer; 
and 

3. Senior to any outstanding and future shareholders’ loan 

(The said amount due to the ultimate beneficial owner is 
payable within a period of 10 years but not earlier than 
the repayment of the totality of the Notes to all 
Noteholders). 

Dividend Restriction The Company shall not declare or pay any dividend to the 
ordinary shareholder until full repayment of the Notes. 

Interest payment provisions 

Interest Rate Fixed 5% per annum 

Interest Payment Frequency Semi-Annual 

Ratings Flex Condition Any downgrade of the rating of the Notes below BBB+ 
shall warrant an increase in the Interest Rate by 30 bps 
provided that the Interest Rate shall revert to 5% per 
annum if such rating is subsequently upgraded to BBB+ 
or higher. 

Interest Payment Date 

 

For each calendar year and subject to the Business Day 
Convention, the interest payment date shall be on or 
around the 30 April and 31 October.  

Day Count Convention Actual/365  

Business Day Convention A day (other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday) 
on which commercial banks settle MUR payments  in 
Mauritius 

Redemption provisions 
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Redemption Amount 100% of the Principal Amount per Note 

Redemption Date Any Business Day occurring on the 7th anniversary of the 
Issue Date 

Redemption Notice A notice served by the Company to the Noteholders at 
least 30 days prior to the Redemption Date  

Redemption Price At 100% of the Issue Price 

Early Redemption The Issuer will have a window of 24 months before the 
Maturity Date to redeem the Fixed Rate Secured Notes, by 
giving the Redemption Notice 

Redemption Mechanism At least twelve (12) months prior to the Maturity Date, the 
Issuer shall notify and inform the Noteholders’ 
Representative of its financing plan for the redemption of 
the Notes, i.e. either through a term loan(s) or through the 
disposal of asset(s) or through the issue of new securities 
or such other means as the Board would think 
appropriate. 

Parties 

Arranger, Book Runner and 
Placing Agent 

Perigeum Capital Ltd 

Registrar, Calculation, 
Transfer and Paying Agent 

M.C.B. Registry and Securities Ltd.  

Noteholders’ Representative 
and Security Agent 

SBM Fund Services Ltd 

Escrow Bank SBM Bank (Mauritius) Ltd 

Noteholders The holders of the Notes as recorded in the register 
maintained by the Agent and following the SEM listing, 
the CDS 

Market information 

Instrument Mode Private Placement 

Listing The Notes will be listed on the Official Market of the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius Ltd 

Rating The Fixed Rate Secured Notes have been assigned a credit 
rating of ‘CARE MAU BBB+ Stable’ from CARE Ratings 
(Africa) Private Limited, a recognized External Credit 
Assessment Institution (ECAI). 

The rating rationale is available on the website of CARE 
Ratings (Africa) Private Limited: 
http://www.careratingsafrica.com/downloads/Rating
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%20Rationale%20for%20Investcorp%20(Holdings)%20Lt
d%2011%20August%202021.pdf  

Governing Law Laws of the Republic of Mauritius 

Important dates 

Offer Start Date/Time 10 August 2021 @ 09:00 hrs 

Offer End Date/Time 19 October 2021 @ 12:00 hrs 

Allotment Date 20 October 2021 

Payment Date 22 October 2021 

Issue Date 22 October 2021 

Interest Commencement Date 22 October 2021 

Maturity Date 22 October 2028 

Date of Listing and First 
Trading 

On or about 22 October 2021 

Security Provisions 

Security The Notes of MUR 1 Billion (and any Permitted 
Oversubscription) will be secured by a First Rank Fixed 
Charge on immovable properties held by the Company 
for a value of up to MUR 1,927.95 million.  

Financial Covenants 

Loan-to-Value (LTV) Ratio Maximum LTV of 65% at all times 

(The test will be performed on the audited accounts on an 
annual basis. Any decrease in the value of the property 
pledged will not constitute a default if the Company 
pledges additional assets to cover the shortfall within a 
timeframe as may be agreed with the Noteholders’ 
Representative) 

Escrow Account  An amount equivalent to interest payment for 6 months 
will be deposited and maintained in the Escrow Account, 
at all times. 

Interest Coverage Ratio Minimum 1.5X  at all times 

(The test will be performed on the audited accounts on an 
annual basis) 

Cure Period In the event of a breach of a financial covenant, the 
Noteholders will be notified within 3 business days and 



 

Page 14 of 75 

the breach will be cured by the Issuer within a grace 
period of 30 days. 

 

Ratios 

Loan-to-Value (LTV) Ratio =          Fixed Rate Secured Notes______ 

              Value of immoveable properties held by the Company 

Interest Coverage Ratio =   

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes Depreciation and Amortization 

Interest Expense 
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3 GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

In these Listing Particulars, capitalised terms not otherwise defined in these Listing 
Particulars shall have the corresponding meaning set out in this table, unless the 
context otherwise requires.  

 

“Act” The Companies Act No.15 of 2001 as may be amended from 
time to time. 

“Agent” The entity acting as registrar, calculation, transfer and/or 
paying agent under the Agency Agreement, for the time 
being M.C.B. Registry and Securities Ltd. 

“Agency Agreement” An agreement entered into between the Issuer and the 
Agent as may be amended from time to time.  

“Allotment Date” The date as specified in the section 2 (Salient Features of the 
Notes) as the Allotment Date. 

“Amalgamation” The short form amalgamation under the Act amongst the 
Issuer and the Security Providers such that the surviving 
company will be the Issuer.  

“Applicable 
Procedures” 

The rules, guidelines and operating procedures of the SEM 
and/or CDS, as the case may be. 

“Attributed 
Properties”  

means the properties of the Issuer or of the Security 
Providers on which Security Interests are to be granted 
pursuant to, and as described in, the Security Documents.  

“Board” the Board of Directors of the Issuer for the time being.  

“Break Costs” Means the amount (if any and to the extent that A exceeds 
B with such amount being floored at zero) by which:  

(A) the interest which the Noteholders should have 
received on the redeemed Notes for the relevant 
Interest Periods during the Break Period, had the 
Issuer not redeemed such Notes on the Early 
Redemption Date;  

exceeds:  

(B) the future amount which the Noteholders would be 
able to obtain for the relevant Interest Periods 
during the Break Period which will be based on 
computations made by the Agent, on the likely 
interest receivable for the relevant Interest Periods 
during the Break Period, using as basis the 
prevailing rate on long term Government bonds, as 
mutually agreed between the Issuer and the 
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Noteholders’ Representative on the date of issue of 
the Redemption Notice. 

“Break Period” Means the period starting from the Early Redemption Date 
and ending on the Maturity Date. 

“Business Day”  Means any day (other than a Saturday, Sunday or public 
holiday) on which commercial banks settle MUR payments 
in Mauritius. 

“CDS” The Central Depository & Settlement Co. Ltd approved 
under the Securities (Central Depository, Clearing and 
Settlement) Act 1996 of Mauritius. 

“Control” Has the same meaning set out in Section 5 of the Act. 

“Company” or 
“Investcorp 
(Holdings) Ltd ” or 
“Issuer” or “IHL” 

A public company registered under the laws of Mauritius, 
under registration number C08081082. 

“Constitution” Means the constitution of the Company dated 20 May 2021 
as may be amended from time to time.  

“Day Count Fraction”  Means, in respect of the calculation of the Interest Amount 
for any Interest Period, the actual number of days in the 
Interest Period divided by 365.   

“Directors” The person appointed for the time being as the director of 
the Company. 

“Early Redemption 
Date” 

means a day on which the Notes are to be redeemed prior 
to the Maturity Date in accordance with Condition 4.9.2. 

“Escrow Account” an MUR account in the name of the Issuer with the Escrow 
Bank.  

“Escrow Agreement” An agreement entered into between the Issuer, the Escrow 
Bank and the Agent in respect of the terms and conditions 
applicable to the Escrow Account and the Reserve 
Amount, as may be amended from time to time. 

“Escrow Bank” SBM Bank (Mauritius) Ltd. 

“Event of Default”  Has the meaning set out in Condition 4.15. 

“Existing 
Encumbrance” 

Means (i) Related Existing Encumbrances and (ii) Other 
Existing Encumbrances.   

“Existing 
Indebtedness” 

means the existing loans of the Issuer or a Security 
Provider amounting to MUR 687,249,676 as at 30 June 2021, 
provided that Existing Indebtedness shall not include the 
Related Loan.  
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“Following Business 
Day Convention” 

has the meaning set out in Condition 4.7.6. 

“FSC” Financial Services Commission 

“Group” The Issuer and its subsidiary companies mentioned in the 
Group Structure in Section 7.1 of these Listing Particulars. 

“Hyvec Group” or  
“Hyvec” 

The group of companies ultimately controlled by Mr Nawaz 
Khan Chady, operating under the ‘Hyvec’ brand. 

“Initial Private 
Placement” or “Offer” 

The preferential offer under these Listing Particulars to 
targeted investors. 

“Interest Amount” means the amount of interest payable in respect of each 
Note, as determined in accordance with Condition 4.7.3. 

“Interest 
Commencement 
Date” 

means the Issue Date; 

Interest Payment 
Date 

has the meaning set out in Condition 4.7.2. 

“Interest Period” means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest 
Commencement Date and ending on (but excluding) the 
first Interest Payment Date and each successive period 
beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date 
and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment 
Date. 

“Interest Rate” the interest rate set out in Condition 4.7.1(a). 

“Issue Date” The date as specified in the section 2 (Salient Features of the 
Notes) as the Issue Date. 

“Issue Price” MUR1,000 per Note. 

“Last Practicable 
Date” 

30 June 2021 

“Listing” The anticipated admission to listing of the Notes on the 
Official Market of the SEM. 

“Listing Particulars” these Listing Particulars and its annexures. 

“M” Millions. 

“Maturity Date” means a Business day occurring on the seventh 
anniversary of the Issue Date, being 22 October 2028. 

“Mauritius” The Republic of Mauritius. 

“MUR” Mauritian Rupees. 
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“Nominal Amount” 
or “Principal 
Amount” 

MUR 1,000 per Note. 

“Notes”  The Notes to be issued by the Issuer under these Listing 
Particulars, as part of the Initial Private Placement.  

“Noteholder” The holders of Notes as recorded in the Register kept by 
the Agent as per the Terms and Conditions. 

“Noteholders’ 
Representative” 

A person, qualified to act as Noteholders’ representative 
under the Sixth Schedule of the Act, to be appointed under 
the Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement, 
which as at Issue Date is, SBM Fund Services Ltd. 

“Noteholders’ 
Representative 
Agency Agreement” 

The agreement, to be entered into in respect of the Notes 
on or before the Offer End Date, between the Issuer and 
the Noteholders’ Representative in accordance with 
section 121 of the Act. 

“Ordinary 
Resolution” 

In relation to Noteholders, a resolution passed at a 
properly constituted meeting of such Noteholders duly 
convened and held in accordance with the provisions of 
the Terms and Conditions (i) upon a show of hands, by a 
simple majority of the voting rights attached to the Notes 
voted by Noteholders present in person or by proxy or (ii) 
if a poll is duly demanded, by a simple majority of the 
votes cast at such poll by the Noteholders present in person 
or by proxy.  

“Offer End Date” The date as specified in the section 2 (Salient Features of the 
Notes) as the Offer End Date. 

“Official Market” The Official List of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd 

“Other Existing 
Encumbrances” 

means the Security Interests over the Attributed Properties 
granted by a Security Provider as security for the debts of 
certain companies within the Hyvec Group. 

“p.a.” Per Annum 

“Permitted 
Encumbrance” 

means (i) the Existing Encumbrance, (ii) the Security 
Interests taken in accordance with the Terms and 
Conditions and (iii) such other Security Interests created 
with the consent of the Noteholders’ Representative which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld if following 
the creation of such new Security Interests, the financial 
covenants set out in Condition 4.12.1(f) are met.  

“Redemption”  means the Maturity Date or an earlier date on which Notes 
are redeemed in accordance with the Terms and 
Conditions.  
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“Related Existing 
Encumbrance” 

means the Security Interests over the Attributed Properties 
granted by the Issuer or a Security Provider as security for 
the Existing Indebtedness. 

“Related Loan” means an unsecured loan bearing no interest for the 
amount due on acquisition of properties (i.e. MUR 
848.43M) pursuant to a share purchase agreement dated 30 
December 2020 and an addendum to the share purchase 
agreement dated 30 June 2021, which amount will be 
payable over a period not exceeding 10 years from the date 
of the share purchase agreement, but, in any case, not 
earlier than the repayment of the totality of the Notes to all 
the holders of the Notes.  The payment of the Related Loan 
shall rank junior, and shall be subordinated, to any 
payment being made whatsoever from time to time to the 
holders of the Notes (or any representative that the holders 
of the Notes may from time to time appoint).  

“Register” means the register of Noteholders.  

“Reserve Amount” has the meaning ascribed to it in Condition 4.6.1. 

“Security 
Documents” 

means any document creating a Security Interest in favour 
of the Noteholders entered into by the Noteholders’ 
Representative including the following agreements to be 
dated on or about the Issue Date:  

a) a fixed charge agreement granted by Hennessy 
Tower Development Ltd in respect of the tenth, 
eleventh, twelfth, thirteenth and fourteenth floor in 
a building known as “Hennessy Tower” situated at 
Pope Hennessy Street, Port Louis;  

b) a fixed charge agreement granted by the Issuer in 
respect of the first and second floor of a 6-storey 
building known as ‘AXIS Building’ erected on 
leasehold land of 4,053.35 square meters at Ebene 
Cyber City (Lot 26) leased by the Issuer from 
Landscope Mauritius Ltd and the leasehold rights 
to the said land; 

c) a fixed charge agreement granted by Eight Sirs 
Investment Ltd in respect of a building known as 
”Grand Baie Suites complex” erected on leasehold 
land of 1,748 square meters at Grand Baie leased 
from the State of Mauritius and leasehold rights to 
the said plot; 

d) a fixed charge agreement granted by Bonn 
Properties Ltd in respect of a commercial building 
of 2,157 square meters erected on leasehold land of 
7,495.75 square meters at Ebene (Lot 22C) leased 
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from Landscope Mauritius Ltd and leasehold 
rights to the said plot; 

e) a fixed charge agreement granted by Ibiza City 
(Holding) Ltd in respect of the fifth, sixth and 
seventh floor of a building known as “Eagle House 
Building” and in respect of the ground and first 
floor of a building known as “Maison Sasha” both 
erected on leasehold land of 3,798.78 square meters 
(Lot 15A/5) from Landscope Mauritius Ltd and 
leasehold rights to the said plot;  

f) a fixed charge agreement granted by Ibiza 
Investment Ltd in respect of a building of 4,925 
square meters erected on leasehold land of 3,798.78 
square meters at Ebene Cyber City (Lot 15A/3) 
leased from Landscope Mauritius Ltd and 
leasehold rights to the said plot; 

g) a fixed charge agreement granted by HBL 
Development Ltd in respect of  a building known 
as ‘Sanne Building” erected on leasehold land of 
4,045.77 square meters (Lot27) and 4,060 square 
meters (Lot 28) at Ebene Cyber City leased from 
Landscope Mauritius Ltd and leasehold rights to 
the said plot; 

h) a fixed charge agreement granted by Ibiza 
Properties Ltd in respect of 8 storey building 
erected on leasehold land of 3,798.78 square meters 
(Lot 15A/4) at Ebene Cyber City leased from 
Landscope Mauritius Ltd and leasehold rights to 
the said plot; 

“Security Interests” mean any mortgage, charge, encumbrance, pledge, lien or 
other security interest securing any obligation of any 
person or any other agreement or arrangement (whether 
conditional or otherwise) having or intended to have a 
similar effect, including those granted pursuant to the 
Security Documents. 

“Security Provider” prior to the Amalgamation, each of the following 
subsidiaries of the Issuer who has granted or will grant 
Security Interests on their asset (as identified in each 
Security Document) for the benefit of the Notes: 

a) Eight Sirs Investment Ltd; 

b) Bonn Properties Ltd;  

c) Ibiza City (Holding) Ltd; 

d) Ibiza Investment Ltd; 
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e) HBL Development Ltd;  

f) Ibiza Properties Ltd;  

g) Hennessy Tower Development Ltd; and  

following the completion of the Amalgamation, each 
Security Provider will be deemed to be the Issuer pursuant 
to section 250(5) of the Act. 

“SEM” The Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd. 

“Special Resolution” In relation to Noteholders, a resolution passed at a 
properly constituted meeting of such Noteholders duly 
convened and held in accordance with the provisions of 
the Terms and Conditions (i) upon a show of hands, by a 
majority of not less than 75% of the voting rights attached 
to the Notes voted by Noteholders present in person or by 
proxy or (ii) if a poll is duly demanded, by a majority of 
not less than 75% of the votes cast at such poll by the 
Noteholders present in person or by proxy.  

“Terms and 
Conditions” 

The Terms and Conditions incorporated in the section 
headed “Terms and Conditions of the Notes” and in 
accordance with which the Notes will be issued. 

 

In these Listing Particulars, unless there is something in the subject or context 
inconsistent with such construction:  

(a) Words importing the singular number only shall include the plural number 
and vice versa; 

(b) Words importing the masculine gender only shall include the feminine gender; 

(c) Words importing persons only shall include companies or associations or 
bodies of persons, whether corporate or not; 

(d) References to statutes, enactments, regulations and to articles or sections of 
enactments shall include references to any modifications or re-enactments 
thereof for the time being in force;  

(e) The reference to a Section is to a section of these Listing Particulars;  

(f) The references to any Condition are to that Condition of the Terms and 
Conditions; 

(g) Any reference to days (other than a reference to Business Days), months or 
years will be a reference to calendar days, months or years, as the case may be;  

(h) Where any term is defined within a particular Condition, that term shall bear 
the meaning ascribed to it in that Condition wherever it is used in the Terms 
and Conditions; and  
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(i) Headings and sub-headings in the Terms and Conditions are inserted for 
convenience only.  
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4 TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to be issued by the Issuer under the 
Listing Particulars which will be incorporated by reference into each Note. 

Copies of the Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement will be available for inspection 
at the registered office of the Issuer. The Noteholders are deemed to have notice of, and are 
entitled to the benefit of, and are subject to, all the provisions of the Noteholders’ 
Representative Agency Agreement 

4.1 Interpretation 

Unless otherwise defined below, capitalised terms shall have the same meaning as set 
out in section 3 (Glossary of Terms).  

4.2 Issue of Notes  

4.2.1 The Issuer intends to issue 1,000,000 Notes at a price of MUR1,000 per Note for an 
aggregate amount of up to MUR 1 billion.  Any oversubscription will be considered 
positively subject to the Issuer meeting the covenants as prescribed in Condition 
4.12.1(f). 

4.2.2 The Board reserves its right to close the Initial Private Placement at an earlier date 
and/or not to process subscriptions received (without assigning any particular reasons 
thereof) on the occurrence of events which are beyond the control of the Issuer.  The 
Board also reserves its right to extend the Initial Private Placement by extending the 
Offer End Date.  In such case, all targeted investors will be informed of such extension 
without delay. 

4.2.3 Targeted investors shall only accept the Offer and thereafter transfer the application 
monies into the bank account of the Company if the following conditions precedent 
are met by the Allotment Date, being 20 October 2021:- 

(a) Each targeted investor should receive a copy of the Listing Particulars duly 
signed by at least two directors of the Issuer; 

(b) Each targeted investor should receive a copy of the duly executed Noteholders’ 
Representative Agency Agreement; 

(c) Each targeted investor should receive a copy of the final form of all the Security 
Documents to be entered into on or about the Issue Date; and   

(d) The various bank(s) of the Issuer and the Security Providers (i.e. ABSA Bank 
(Mauritius) Ltd, SBM Bank (Mauritius) Ltd and MauBank) should provide to 
the Noteholders’ Representative an up-to-date statement of the outstanding 
bank loans. 

4.2.4 The Board will not proceed with the issue of the Notes where the number of Notes 
applied for is less than 550,000, at the time of the Offer End Date for the Initial Private 
Placement. In such case, the applications received will not be processed and any 
application monies received by the Company will be returned to the applicants 
without interest. 

4.2.5 It is not anticipated that the current major shareholder and the members of the Board 
will participate in the Initial Private Placement. 
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4.2.6 The Issue is not underwritten. 

4.2.7 It is expected that the Notes will be listed on the Official Market of the SEM on or about 
22 October 2021. 

4.2.8 It is anticipated that the Issuer will use part of the proceeds of the Offer to repay all the 
Existing Indebtedness and upon such repayment¸ the Issuer shall procure for all the 
Related Existing Encumbrance as well as the Other Existing Encumbrances to be 
irrevocably and unconditionally released such that, within thirty (30) business days of 
the Issue Date (without prejudice to Condition 4.5.3), the Noteholders benefit from first 
ranking Security Interests over the Attributed Properties under the Security 
Documents.  

4.3 Form of the Notes 

4.3.1 The Notes will be issued to participants of the Initial Private Placement in registered 
form. No certificates will be issued. No bearer Notes will be issued.  

4.3.2 Legal ownership of the Notes will be reflected in the book entries recorded by the 
Issuer or the Agent on the Register which shall constitute the definitive evidence of the 
title of the Noteholder to the number of Notes shown against his name. If Notes are 
listed, the Issuer and Agent shall recognise a Noteholder as the sole and absolute 
owner of the Notes registered in that Noteholders’ name in the book entries of the CDS 
as reflected in the Register upon the admission on the SEM.   

4.3.3 The Register of Noteholders is to be kept by the Agent. 

4.4 Status of Notes 

4.4.1 The Notes are direct secured obligations of the Issuer and rank 

(a) pari passu among themselves; 

(b) second with the Existing Indebtedness until the date such Existing 
Indebtedness is repaid; 

(c) senior to holders of all classes of share capital of the Issuer; 

(d) senior to the Related Loan; 

(e) senior to any outstanding and future shareholders’ loan; 

(f) save for certain debts required to be preferred by law, at least equally with all 
other present and future unsecured obligations of the Issuer from time to time 
outstanding.  

4.5 Security 

4.5.1 The Notes will have the benefit of the Security Interests on the Attributed Properties 
created under the Security Documents as security for the Issuer's payment obligations 
and the performance of the Issuer's obligations in respect of the Notes as set out in this 
Condition.  

4.5.2 The Security Interests created under the Security Documents will not be first ranking 
over the Attributed Properties for a limited period of time until the repayment of the 
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Existing Indebtedness and the release of the Existing Encumbrances where the 
Security Interests in favour of the Noteholders will become first ranking  

4.5.3 It is anticipated that the Issuer will use part of the proceeds of the Offer to promptly 
repay all the Existing Indebtedness and ensure the release of the Related Existing 
Encumbrance.  The Issuer shall promptly notify the Noteholders’ Representative upon 
the repayment of the Existing Indebtedness and provide it with the relevant 
supporting evidence. It is anticipated that the full repayment of the Existing 
Indebtedness, the release of the Related Existing Encumbrance (where the Security 
Interests  in favour of the Noteholders will become first ranking) and the release of the 
Other Existing Encumbrances shall happen within thirty (30) business days of the Issue 
Date.  Should this process take longer than thirty (30) business days, the Issuer should 
promptly notify the Noteholders’ Representative accordingly and provide reasons for 
such delay(s). Following the full repayment of the Existing Indebtedness and the 
release of the Existing Encumbrance, the Existing Encumbrance will not be enforceable 
and the Security Interests of the Noteholders over the Attributed Properties will 
automatically rank first. 

4.5.4 The rights of Noteholders to the Security Interests created under the Security 
Documents are vested in the Noteholders’ Representative for the benefit of the 
Noteholders and the Noteholders’ Representative will administer and enforce those 
Security Interests in accordance with the provisions of the Noteholders’ 
Representative Agency Agreement.  

4.5.5 The Security Interests created under the Security Documents will be discharged as 
soon as reasonably practicable upon the earlier of the date on which (a) the Notes have 
been redeemed in full and (b) all outstanding obligations of the Issuer under or in 
respect of the Notes and the Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement, have 
been fully discharged.  

4.6 Escrow Account 

4.6.1 The Issuer shall establish an Escrow Account in which the Issuer shall credit on or 
before the Issue Date, a sum representing the Interest Amount for a period of 6 months 
(the “Reserve Amount”) and subject to the other provisions of Conditions 4.6, the 
Issuer shall at all times maintain such Reserve Amount in the Escrow Account until 
the last payment of interest has been made pertaining to the Maturity Date.  

4.6.2 With regards to an Interest Payment Date, the Agent shall be authorised, with written 
notice to the Issuer and the Escrow Bank, to withdraw all or any part of the Reserve 
Amount to pay the Interest Amount in the event that the Agent has not received in its 
account a sum corresponding to an Interest Amount from the Issuer within 5 Business 
Days of a given Interest Payment Date.  

4.6.3 Where any amount has been withdrawn from the Escrow Account pertaining to the 
payment of interest for a specific Interest Payment Date, the Issuer shall replenish the 
Escrow Account to make good any shortfall in the Reserve Amount within 30 Business 
Days of that Interest Payment Date.  

4.6.4 For the avoidance of doubt, the withdrawal and use of the Reserve Amount by the 
Agent in accordance with Condition 4.6 shall not be  construed as an Event of Default, 
provided the Escrow Account is replenished in accordance with Condition 4.6.3. 

4.7 Interest 
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4.7.1 Interest Rate  

(a) Each Note shall bear interest on its Nominal Amount until repaid or redeemed, 
from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding) the 
Maturity Date at the interest rate of 5% per annum subject to any adjustment 
pursuant to the provisions of Condition 4.7.1(b) (the “Interest Rate”). 

(b) If rating of the Notes is downgraded below BBB+, then the Interest Rate set out 
in Condition (a) above shall be increased by 0.3% per annum, with effect as 
from the Interest Period that starts on the Interest Payment Date occurring 
immediately after the date on which the Issuer has notified the Noteholders’ 
Representative. If the rating of the Notes is subsequently changed to BBB+ or 
any higher rating, then, the Interest Rate shall revert to the figure set out in 
Condition (a) (i.e. 5% per annum), with effect as from the Interest Period that 
starts on the Interest Payment Date occurring immediately after the date on 
which the Issuer has notified the Noteholders’ Representative. The Issuer 
undertakes to notify the Noteholders’ Representative of any change in its 
rating, not later than ten (10) Business Days after the Issuer has become aware 
of same.  

4.7.2 Interest Payment Date 

(a) Interest will be payable semi-annually in arrears and will occur on 30 April and 
31 October (each an “Interest Payment Date”) and to Noteholders on the 
Register on the relevant Interest Payment Date.  

(b) Interest will be payable on the Interest Payment Date in each year and on the 
Maturity Date if such date does not fall on an Interest Payment Date.   

4.7.3 Calculation of Interest Amount  

Each Interest Amount shall be calculated, for each Interest Period, by multiplying the 
Interest Rate by the Nominal Amount and then multiplying the product by the Day 
Count Fraction and rounding the resultant to the nearest cent. 

4.7.4 Accrual of Interest 

Each Note will cease to bear interest from the date of its redemption unless, upon due 
presentation thereof, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such 
event, interest will accrue at the Interest Rate until the date on which all amounts due 
in respect of such Note have been paid. 

4.7.5 Certificates to be Final 

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations 
and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of the provisions 
of this Condition  by the Issuer shall, in the absence of wilful deceit, bad faith, manifest 
error or any dispute, be binding on the Issuer and all Noteholders, and no liability to 
the Noteholders shall attach to the Issuer in connection with the exercise or non-
exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions pursuant to such provisions. 

4.7.6 Following Business Day Convention 
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If any Interest Payment Date (or such other date) referred to in these Terms and 
Conditions would otherwise fall on a day that is not a Business Day, such date shall 
be postponed to the next day that is a Business Day.  

4.8 Payments 

4.8.1 Payments of interest and principal will be made by electronic funds transfer to the 
account designated for the purpose by the Noteholder to the Issuer. 

4.8.2 Upon listing of the Notes, any payment in respect of the Notes shall be credited as per 
prevailing instructions on CDS account of the Noteholder. In the event that an invalid 
bank account is attached to the CDS Account, the Noteholder shall make the necessary 
arrangements to provide a valid bank account upon being notified that the interest is 
being held with the Agent. No interests will be payable on such interest amount held 
with the Agent. 

4.9 Redemption and Maturity of Notes  

4.9.1 Scheduled redemption on Maturity Date 

Unless previously reduced, cancelled, redeemed or purchased as contemplated 
hereinafter, the Notes will be redeemed on Maturity Date at their Nominal Amount. 

4.9.2 Redemption at the option of the Issuer 

Subject to compliance with the Applicable Procedures and any applicable rules of the 
SEM, the Issuer may at its sole discretion and on any Business Day commencing from 
the fifth anniversary of the Maturity Date redeem all or a portion of the Notes at their 
Nominal Amount together with interest accrued thereon which is unpaid and the 
Break Cost (as applicable), subject to giving not less than 30 days’ notice to the 
Noteholders. In the case of a partial redemption of Notes, the Notes to be redeemed 
will be selected by the Issuer on a pro rata basis to the Notes in issue and dealings in 
the Notes on the SEM will be suspended for a period of 3 trading days prior to the 
Early Redemption Date. Where the Issuer exercises its early redemption option 
pursuant to this Condition 4.9.2, the Issuer agrees that the Break Cost (i) shall be 
determined mutually by the Issuer and the Noteholders’ Representative and (ii) shall 
be approved by a Special Resolution of the Noteholders. 

4.9.3 Redemption for tax reasons 

The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any 
time, on giving not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days’ notice to the 
Noteholders’ Representative (which notice shall be irrevocable) at their Nominal 
Amount, together with interest accrued to the Redemption Date if, immediately before 
giving such notice, the Issuer satisfies the Noteholders’ Representative that:  

(a) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay any additional amount as a result 
of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Mauritius, or any 
authority thereof having power to tax therein, or any change in the application 
or official interpretation of such laws or regulations (including a decision of a 
court of competent jurisdiction), which change or amendment becomes 
effective on or after the Issue Date of the Notes and  

(b) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer even though reasonable 
measures available to it are taken. Prior to the publication of any notice of 
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redemption pursuant to this Condition 4.9.3, the Issuer shall deliver or procure 
that there is delivered to the Noteholders’ Representative:  

(i) a certificate signed by two directors of the Issuer stating that the Issuer 
is entitled to effect such Redemption and setting forth a statement of 
facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so 
to redeem have occurred, and  

(ii) an opinion, in form and substance to the reasonable satisfaction of the 
Noteholders’ Representative, of independent legal advisers of 
recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become 
obliged to pay any additional amounts or has or will become obliged to 
make any additional withholding or deduction as a result of such 
change or amendment.  

The Noteholders’ Representative shall be entitled to accept such certificate and 
opinion as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the circumstances set out in 
Conditions 4.9.3(a) and 4.9.3(b) above in which event they shall be conclusive 
and binding on the Noteholders. Upon expiry of any such notice as referred to 
in this Condition 4.9.3, the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes in 
accordance with this Condition 4.9.3. 

4.9.4 Cancellation 

All Notes which are redeemed, converted or purchased by the Issuer, will forthwith 
be cancelled. 

4.10 Taxation  

All payments made under the Notes shall be made without set off or counterclaim and 
without any withholding or deduction for or on account of tax other than as required 
from time to time by law. 

4.11 Prescription 

Where after five years from the date of redemption of the Notes, any payment/cheque 
issued for the payment of redemption proceeds (principal and/or interest) has not 
been claimed, such redemption proceeds will revert to the Issuer and the relevant 
Noteholders shall have no right whatsoever thereto. 

4.12 Covenants 

4.12.1 The covenants hereinafter shall remain in force during the whole tenor of the Notes: 

(a) Covenant to pay: the Issuer must repay in full the outstanding Nominal Amount 
and pay all other amounts, including accrued interest, owing under the Notes 
on the Maturity Date in accordance with these Terms and Conditions. 

(b) Negative covenant: The Issuer will not and shall procure that each of the Security 
Providers will not, create, assume or suffer to subsist any Security Interests on 
the Attributed Properties except the Security Interests under the Security 
Documents and the Permitted Encumbrances. 

(c) Restriction on Dividend:  The Company shall not declare or pay any dividend to 
the ordinary shareholder until full repayment of the Notes. 
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(d) Change of Business: The Issuer shall procure that no substantial change is made 
to the general nature or scope of the business of the Issuer from that carried on 
at the Issue Date, unless such change is approved by the Noteholders through 
an Ordinary Resolution. 

(e) Change of Control: The Issuer shall procure that there is no change in control (as 
understood under the Act) in the Issuer or in the Security Providers.  

(f) Financial Covenants: 

(i) Loan-to-Value (LTV) Ratio 

(aa) The Issuer shall maintain a Loan-to-Value Ratio of a maximum 
of 0.65x at all times. This ratio shall be calculated as the ratio of the 
aggregate Nominal Amount of the Notes divided by the value of the 
property granted as security in the Security Documents. The calculation 
will be performed on the audited financial statements of the Issuer on 
an annual basis.  

(bb) Any decrease in the value of the property granted as security in 
the Security Documents shall not be construed as an Event of Default if 
the Issuer or a member of its Group grants Security Interests over 
additional properties to restore the shortfall within a reasonable period 
agreed with the Noteholders’ Representative.  

(ii) Interest Coverage Ratio 

The Issuer shall maintain an Interest Coverage Ratio of a minimum of 
1.5x at all times. The ratio shall be calculated on the audited financial 
statements of the Issuer on an annual basis.  

4.12.2 The Issuer must inform the Noteholders’ Representative of the repayment of Existing 
Indebtedness and of the release of the Existing Encumbrance and provide it with the 
relevant supporting evidence. 

4.12.3 In the event of a breach of any financial covenant set out in Condition 4.12.1(f), the 
Issuer shall notify the Noteholders of such breach within 3 Business Days thereof and 
shall remedy such breach in accordance with Condition 4.15.2.  

4.12.4 It is recorded that the Issuer and the Security Providers will undergo the 
Amalgamation which the Noteholders are deemed to have notice of. For the avoidance 
of doubt, the completion of such Amalgamation shall not be construed as a breach of 
the Terms and Conditions or as an Event of Default.  

4.13 Register  

4.13.1 The Register of Noteholders:  

(a) shall be kept at the office of the Issuer or such other person as may be appointed 
for the time being by the Issuer to maintain the Register;  

(b) shall contain the names and address of the Noteholders;  

(c) shall contain the total Nominal Amount of the Notes held by the Noteholders;  
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(d) shall show the dates upon which each of the Noteholders was registered as 
such; and 

(e) shall be open for inspection during the normal business hours of the Issuer to 
any Noteholder or any person authorised in writing by any Noteholder.  

4.13.2 The Issuer or its agent shall alter the Register in respect of any change of name or 
address of any of the Noteholders upon receipt of notification from the Noteholder.  

4.13.3 Except as provided for in these Terms and Conditions or as required by law, the Issuer:  

(a) will not be bound to enter any trust in the Register or to take notice of or to 
accede to the execution of any trust (express, implied or constructive); and  

(b) will only recognise a Noteholder as the owner of the Notes registered in that 
Noteholder’s name as per the Register.   

4.13.4 Upon listing of the Notes on SEM, the Issuer will recognise a Noteholder as the owner 
of the Notes registered in that person’s name as per the register maintained by the 
CDS. 

4.14 Transfer  

4.14.1 The Notes are freely transferrable.   

4.14.2 In order for any transfer of Notes to be recorded in the Register, and for the transfer to 
be recognised by the Issuer, each transfer of a Note: 

(a) requires the prior consent of the Issuer (which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld) unless the Notes are listed on SEM; 

(b) must be embodied in a transfer form (which may be obtained  from the office 
of the Agent); 

(c) must be signed by the relevant Noteholder and the transferee, or any 
representative of that registered Noteholder and/or the transferee; 

(d) shall not relate to any fraction of Notes; and 

(e) must be made by way of the delivery of the transfer form to the Agent.  

4.14.3 The transferor of any Notes shall remain the owner thereof until the transferee is 
registered in the Register as the holder thereof. Nothing in this section shall prejudice 
any power of the Issuer to register as Noteholder any person whom the right to any 
Notes of the Issuer has been transmitted by operation of law. 

4.14.4 Before any transfer is registered, all relevant transfer taxes (if any) must have been paid 
and such evidence must be furnished as the Issuer may reasonably require as to the 
identity and title of the transferor and the transferee. 

4.14.5 No transfer will be registered while the Register is closed. 

4.14.6 Notwithstanding the above Conditions, upon the admission of the Notes on the SEM, 
transfer of the Notes will be effected though the market infrastructure of the SEM in 
accordance with the Applicable Procedures.  
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4.15 Event of Default 

4.15.1 An Event of Default shall arise if any one or more of the following events shall have 
occurred and be continuing:  

(a) Non-payment: the failure by the Issuer to pay within ten (10) Business Days from 
the due date any amount due in respect of any of the Notes unless its failure to 
pay is caused by a technical or administrative error which is not the fault of the 
Issuer;  

(b) Winding up: the granting of an order by any competent court or authority for 
the liquidation, winding-up, conservatorship, receivership, dissolution or 
administration of the Issuer, whether provisionally (and not dismissed or 
withdrawn within thirty (30) days thereof) or finally, or the placing of the Issuer 
under voluntary liquidation and the facing of other insolvency proceedings, 
provided that no such proceedings shall constitute an Event of Default if any 
of such proceedings is for the purpose of effecting an amalgamation, merger, 
demerger, consolidation, reorganization or other similar arrangement;  

(c) Security Interests: at any time any Security Interest created under the Security 
Documents is or becomes unlawful, or is not, or ceases to be legal, valid, 
binding or enforceable or otherwise for any reasons ceases to be in full force or 
effective; 

(d) Breach of covenants: any material breach of the covenants set forth in Condition 
4.12.1. 

4.15.2 An Event of Default is continuing if it has not been remedied within thirty (30) days 
(or such other extended period as approved by the Noteholders’ Representative in 
writing) of occurrence of such Event of Default. If the Issuer becomes aware of the 
occurrence of any Event of Default, the Issuer shall forthwith notify the Noteholders’ 
Representative. 

4.15.3 Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default which is continuing, the Noteholders’ 
Representative (subject to the terms of the Noteholders’ Representative Agency 
Agreement), may do any of the following:  

(a) enforce the Security Interests in accordance with the terms of the Security 
Documents; 

(b) bring proceedings to recover any amount then due and payable but unpaid 
pursuant to the Notes;  

(c) initiate any insolvency proceedings and, subject to the ranking of the Notes, 
prove the claim in any of the Insolvency Proceedings; or  

(d) by written notice to the Issuer, declare all amounts payable under the Notes to 
be forthwith due and payable. Upon receipt of that notice, such Notes shall 
become forthwith due and payable at the Nominal Amount, together with 
accrued interest (if any) to the date of payment. 

4.16 Agent 

4.16.1 The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of the Agent and/or 
appoint additional or other agents and/or approve any change in the specified office 
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through which any such agent acts on the terms of the Agency Agreement, provided 
that there will at all times be an Agent with an office in such place as may be required 
by the Applicable Procedures. The Agent acts solely as the registrar, calculation, 
paying and transfer agent of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation towards or 
relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholders. 

4.16.2 To the extent that the Issuer acts as the Agent, all references in these Terms and 
Conditions to: 

(a) any action, conduct or functions in such role shall be understood to mean that 
the Issuer shall perform such action, conduct or function itself; and 

(b) requirements for consultation, indemnification by or of, payment by or to, 
delivery by or to, notice by or to, consent by or to or agreement between the 
Issuer and such Agent shall be disregarded to the extent that the Issuer 
performs such role. 

4.17 Noteholders’ Representative 

4.17.1 The Noteholders’ Representative has been appointed in furtherance to the 
Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement entered into between the 
Noteholders’ Representative and the Issuer, with the aim, inter alia, of providing for 
the protection of the rights and entitlements, and the implementation of the 
obligations, of the Noteholders. Accordingly, all such rights, entitlements and 
obligations of the Noteholders shall be protected, enforced and implemented, as the 
case may be, through the office of the Noteholders’ Representative. 

4.17.2 The Noteholders’ Representative shall cease to hold office if: 

(a) it resigns, further to it having given at least sixty (60) Business Days’ notice to 
the Issuer. Such resignation shall be effective without any leave of any court or 
any other person subject to a replacement Noteholders’ Representative being 
appointed. At the expiration of such period of notice the Noteholders’ 
Representative shall be discharged from its obligations under the Noteholders’ 
Representative Agency Agreement and shall not be responsible for any loss or 
costs occasioned by its resignation; or 

(b) it becomes disqualified in law to hold the office of Noteholders’ Representative; 
or 

(c) it is removed from office by a Special Resolution of the Noteholders; or  

(d) it is provisionally or finally wound up or liquidated.  

4.17.3 If the Noteholders’ Representative should cease to hold office in any of the above 
mentioned circumstances, a meeting of Noteholders shall be convened by the 
Noteholders’ Representative or the Issuer (as the context requires) within fourteen (14) 
days to appoint another person to the office of the Noteholders’ Representative. 

Upon the appointment of a new Noteholders’ Representative in the place of a former 
Noteholders’ Representative, the new Noteholders’ Representative shall, in writing, 
signify its acceptance of the appointment and shall thereafter be vested with all the 
rights, powers, authorities and privileges and be subject to the obligations set out in 
the Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement, as if it had originally been 
appointed as Noteholders’ Representative, other than any liability for breaches of the 
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Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement committed by any former 
Noteholders’ Representative. 

4.17.4 The Noteholders are deemed to have notice of, are entitled to the benefit of, and are 
subject to, all the provisions of the Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement. 

4.18 Notices 

4.18.1 All notices to be given pursuant to these Terms and Conditions shall be in writing and 
shall be sent either by registered post, by email or delivered by hand to the address 
appearing in the Register.  

4.18.2 Notices will be sent by email to all Noteholders who (i) have provided an email 
address and/or (ii) who have an email address associated with his CDS Account, 
following listing of Notes on the SEM. Following any deposit of the Notes to their 
respective CDS account, the email addresses associated with the CDS account of the 
Noteholder will be used for the purposes of this section. 

4.18.3 Any notice given by the Company to the Noteholders by registered post, by email or 
delivered by hand shall be deemed to have been received within seven days after the 
day on which it is posted, and on the day on which it has been emailed or of delivery 
if delivered by hand. 

4.19 Meetings of Noteholders 

4.19.1 The Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement contains the rights and powers 
of the Noteholders, the duties and powers of the Noteholders’ Representative and 
provisions for convening meetings of the Noteholders to consider any matter affecting 
their interests.  

4.19.2 Meetings of the Noteholders shall be convened and requisitioned in accordance with 
the provisions of the Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement. The procedures 
(including, without limitation, the appointment of a chairman, the required quorum 
and voting method and threshold) pertaining to the conduct of meetings of the 
Noteholders shall be as set out in the Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement.  

4.19.3 A Special Resolution, passed at any meeting of the Noteholders or by way of written 
resolution, shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether or not they are present at 
the meeting. 

4.20 Modification  

4.20.1 No modification of these Terms and Conditions may be effected without the written 
agreement of the Issuer.  

4.20.2 The Issuer may effect, without the consent of Noteholders, any modification of the 
Terms and Conditions which is of a minor or technical nature or is made to correct a 
manifest error or ambiguity or to comply with the Applicable Procedure or mandatory 
provisions of the law. Any such modification shall be binding on the Noteholders and 
any such modification shall be notified to the Noteholders as soon as practicable 
thereafter. 

4.20.3 Save as provided in Condition 4.20.2, no modification of these Terms and Conditions 
may be effected unless approved by a Special Resolution of the Noteholders at a 
meeting or by written resolutions.  
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4.21 Exclusion of Rights 

4.21.1 The Noteholders have: 

(a) no claim against the Issuer except as expressly set out in these Terms and 
Conditions; 

(b) no right to participate in the issue of any shares or any other securities of any 
kind of the Issuer in their capacity as Noteholders; and 

(c) no right to receive notice of or vote at any meeting of shareholders of the Issuer 
only by virtue of being Noteholders. 

4.22 Further Issues 

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders 
to create and issue further securities or debentures. 

4.23 Governing Law and Jurisdiction 

4.23.1 The Notes will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of 
Mauritius. 

4.23.2 In the event of a dispute arising out of or relating to the Notes, including any question 
regarding its existence, validity or termination, that cannot be amicably settled 
between the parties, the parties shall first seek settlement of that dispute by mediation 
in accordance with the Mediation Rules of the Arbitration and Mediation Centre of the 
Mauritius Chamber of Commerce (MARC), which Rules are deemed to be 
incorporated by reference into this Condition. If mediation is not attempted or the 
dispute is not settled by mediation within thirty (30) days of the appointment of the 
mediator, or such further period as the parties shall agree in writing, the dispute shall 
be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration under the arbitration rules of the 
Arbitration and Mediation Centre of the MARC, which Rules are deemed to be 
incorporated by reference into this Condition. 

4.23.3 The arbitration tribunal shall consist of one arbitrator to be appointed in accordance 
with the MARC Rules. 

4.23.4 The seat of arbitration shall be Mauritius and the arbitration shall be conducted wholly 
in English. 

4.23.5 The award of the arbitration tribunal shall be final and binding on the Parties. 
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5 PROCEDURES FOR THE APPLICATION 

5.1 Restrictions 

Nothing in these Listing Particulars shall be construed as , and under no circumstances 
shall these Listing Particulars constitute, an offer of Notes to the public. The offer of Notes 
is being made to targeted investors in Mauritius through a private placement (as defined 
in the Securities Act 2005). Persons who may come into possession of these Listing 
Particulars are required to inform themselves of, and to observe, any such restrictions. 
These Listing Particulars do not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to 
buy, a security in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such an offer or to any 
person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction. 
This document is not meant to be redistributed, reproduced, or used, in whole or in part, 
for any other purpose.  

5.2 Procedures for the application 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Application Forms to participate in this offer will be provided to targeted institutional 
investors, corporates and high net worth individuals.  

Completed Application Forms and the required documents as described therein should 
reach the office of the Arranger, Book Runner and Placing Agent at the following address 
by the Offer End Date. The Company will consider applications only from persons to 
whom the offer has been privately made by the Company and the total cost of investment 
per person to whom the offer is made must be for an amount of at least MUR 1 million.  

Subscription monies should be wired to IHL by 22 October 2021, using the bank account 
details as provided in the Application Form. 

Perigeum Capital Ltd 

Level 4, Alexander House 

Offer Start Date/Time 10 August 2021 @ 09:00 hrs 

Offer End Date/Time 19 October 2021 @ 12:00 hrs 

Allotment Date 20 October 2021 

Payment Date 22 October 2021 

Issue Date 22 October 2021 

Interest Commencement Date 22 October 2021 

Maturity Date 22 October 2028 

Date of Listing and First 
Trading 

On or about 22 October 2021 
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35 Cybercity, Ebene 

Republic of Mauritius  

Contact: Shamin A. Sookia 

Tel: +230 402 08 90 

Fax: +230 402 08 91 

Email: bookrunner@perigeum.mu  

 

The Company reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to refuse any application in whole 
or in part, or to accept some applications in full and others in part, or to abate all or any 
applications on a basis determined by it. Any refund shall be made as soon as practicable 
within ten (10) Business Days of the Offer End Date.   

 Anti-Money Laundering and Combating Against the Financing of Terrorism 
Legislation 

To ensure compliance with the Financial Intelligence and Anti-Money Laundering Act 
2002 and the regulations made thereunder, the Issuer or its agent will require every 
applicant to provide certain information/documents for the purpose of customer due 
diligence, that is, verifying the identity of the applicant, sources of funds and obtain 
confirmation that the application monies do not represent, directly or indirectly, the 
proceeds of any crime.  

In the event of delay or failure by the applicant to produce any information required for 
verification purposes, the Issuer or its agent may refuse to accept the application and the 
subscription monies relating thereto. Applicants should note specifically that, the Issuer 
or its agent reserves the right to request such information as may be necessary in order 
to verify the identity of the applicant for Notes.  

 Allotment 

Every applicant having applied for the Notes shall be issued with an allotment 
confirmation or notice of refusal, to confirm allotment of the Notes subscribed for on 20 
October 2021. 

 CDS account 

The Notes will be issued in inscribed form and once the SEM approves the application 
for the listing on the Official Market, the Notes will be credited directly to a CDS account 
in the name of the applicant as specified in the Application Form to be provided to the 
applicants.  

 Data protection 

The Issuer shall, for the performance of its obligations in these Listing Particulars and 
through its Company Secretary and authorised agents, collect and, where necessary or 
required, process personal information voluntarily communicated by any prospective 
investor (the “Personal Data”) which will be stored with the Company Secretary of the 
Issuer. The Company Secretary is required to (and the Issuer shall cause the Company 



 

Page 37 of 75 

Secretary to) treat the Personal Data confidentially and securely in line with the 
provisions of the Data Protection Act 2017 (as amended from time to time). 

Any prospective investor has, inter alia, the right of access to, the possibility of causing 
the correction and destruction of, the Personal Data which is in the custody or control of 
the Company Secretary. Save as otherwise herein provided, the Issuer and the Company 
Secretary warrant not to reveal or otherwise disclose the Personal Data to any external 
body, unless (i) the Issuer has obtained the express consent of any prospective investor, 
or (ii) it is under either a legal obligation or any other duty to do so, or (iii) where the 
Personal Data is disclosed to any agent, third party service provider, professional adviser 
or any other person under a duty of confidentiality to the Issuer’s group (its affiliates and 
parent company), as well as to certain service providers within the Issuer’s group.  

Where personal information relating to the officers, employees and directors of any 
prospective investor is, or is required to be, collected by the Issuer, the prospective 
investor shall procure to do all such things that may be required by the Issuer to ensure 
that its officers, employees and directors are made aware of the data protection 
provisions herein and that such officers, employees and directors give their consent with 
regard to the collection, processing and transfer of such personal information by the 
Issuer. 
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6 THE MARKET OPPORTUNITY 

Latest available information indicates that both GDP at market prices and GVA at basic 
prices would contract by 15.2% in 2020 due to the impact of COVID-19 pandemic, 
which would mark the country’s worse contraction since 1980. This would be a major 
drop for the Mauritian economy compared to GDP at market prices in 2019 which 
grew by 3.0%.   

The charts below depict the evolution of the different industries during the years 2019 
and 2020. In real terms and with reference to Chart 1 relating to both years, investment 
in “Construction” work would shrink by 24.5%, following a growth of 8.5% in 2019. 
Within this category, “Residential building” would contract by 24.0% after a growth 
of 6.4% achieved in 2019. “Non-residential building” would regress by 26.8% against 
a high growth of 24.1% in 2019. “Other construction work” would decline further by 
23.0%, after a drop of 0.1% in 2019. 

In terms of contribution to GVA growth and with reference to Chart 2 relating to both 
years, “Construction” sector would shrink by 1.3% points, following a growth of 0.4% 
point in 2019. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: National Accounts December 2019 
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Source: National Accounts December 2020 

 

The evolution of Real Estate Activities is shown below: 

 

Source: National Accounts December 2019 and 2020, Table 3 and 6 

 

6.1  Future perspectives for office space  in Mauritius 

The gradual shift of operations of major corporates away from Port Louis has accentuated 
over the past years mainly to the Ebene Cybercity as the main hub for ICT and Financial 
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Chart 1: Annual GVA growth rate (%) by industry, 2020
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Services with almost all of the major banks having a firm physical presence. The country's 
gross domestic product ( GDP) in 2019 grew 3.6 percent driven by construction and services 
sector with a slight rebound in agriculture while manufacturing remained sluggish on the 
back of decelerating global demand. According to the World Bank, there is a continued 
pattern of structural transformation , with more knowledge intensive sectors expanding while 
some of the sectors that have traditionally provided low-skilled employment showing signs 
of contraction. Based on  its 2019 data, Mauritius was classified as a high-income country by 
the World Bank for the first time in July 2020. 

Unfortunately with the spread of the COVID-19 Pandemic, the global economy has 
experienced a severe downturn as Governments around the world  had to implement  much-
needed containment measures. There is substantial uncertainty on the impact of lives and 
livelihood of people. A lot will depend on the duration and intensity of the pandemic, 
epidemiology of the virus, effectiveness of the protection measures taken and the 
development of therapeutics and vaccine. On the latter front, recent announcements about the 
roll out of new vaccines and their related efficacy, might reduce the level of uncertainty and 
provide some clarity on the path to recovery. 

Global growth is projected at 6% in 2021, moderating to 4.4% in 2022. The projections for 2021 
and 2022 are stronger than in the October 2020 WEO (World Economic Outlook)1. 

Mauritius has  in the past, always risen up to various challenges on the back of a track record 
of political stability, good governance, skilled labour and reliable legal system. This, amongst 
other factors has attracted sizeable foreign direct investment (FDI) repeatedly over the years.   
The recent relaxation of the terms and conditions of the occupation permits and the extension 
of its current validity will attract more foreign talents and businesses to the country by 
providing long term predictability  in a post Covid-19 environment . 

The above measure will provide an additional impetus to the Services sector of the economy 
and further position the country as a Financial and International Services platform. On the 
Financial Services front, with greater demand for substance from the Financial Services 
Commission, it is expected that a significant number of existing and new licensees will be 
setting up physically in Mauritius thereby further boosting demand in the Ebene Cybercity 
with its existing Banking , Regulatory and Legal eco-system. 

In light of the above, demand for office space will be sustained.  There is also demand for 
larger and less constrained habitat for office employees as health and safety concerns take 
centre stage. 

In the case of IHL, the rentals are long term leases with a number of reputable domestic and 
international blue chip clients.  Most of the tenants have invested in the fitting out of the rented 
space in a manner conducive for their needs and therefore unlikely to churn.   

The Management team has not seen any cancellation of leases and the churn rate remains nil. 
What has also been witnessed is that tenants are looking to rent out  properties in shell & core 
so as to customize to their specific needs and adhere to specific occupational safety protocol 
(no co-mingling as a result of Covid-19). IHL has a positive edge in offering competitive rates 
given that the Group’s properties were built ahead of demand pre Covid-19 - especially when 
construction cost was much lower  to the tune of 25%-30% of today’s costs.   

                                                         

1 Source: World Economic Outlook (imf.org) 
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6.1.1 Growth Potential in Commercial Real Estate 

• Over the long term, real estate remains an attractive asset class. Although investment into 
real estate has fluctuated over the years through various downturns, the overall trend has 
been for higher allocations to real estate, and we do not  expect this trend to reverse. Real 
estate continues to offer good risk-adjusted returns that are less correlated to other asset 
classes. This is supported by   the spread between real estate yields and government bond 
yields which remains at levels that more than sufficiently reward the real estate investor. 
In light of this, we expect to see continued flows (and potentially an increase) of capital 
into real estate over the medium to long term. 

• There are a number of factors likely to influence the continued growth in the sector 
namely:-  

a) Growth in corporate outsourcing. The ongoing health crisis has highlighted the 
importance of  maintaining global supply chain continuity  and business continuity  in 
general. Major corporates have realized the importance of diversifying their base of 
operations and distribution through an increasing global network. This trend will 
undoubtedly lead to new demand for office space centrally located  close to the main 
facilities and service providers.  

b) Adding Substance to the International Finance Centre. 

In an era of heightened scrutiny of international tax jurisdictions and following the 
Financial Action Task Force recommendations, the Financial Services Regulator 
amongst others ,is encouraging existing Global Business licensees operating in the IFC 
to provide more substance through an enhanced physical presence locally. This will 
also impact positively on future demand for prime office space in the already well 
developed ecosystem at Ebene with major law firms and most of the banks being 
located there. 

c) Rising capital allocations to real estate. The low interest rate environment and 
financial asset price volatility will support the case for portfolio diversification. ‘Flight 
to safety’ in real estate, which traditionally   offers better relative returns in comparison 
to other asset classes, looks set to increase.  

d) Urbanization. The COVID-19 pandemic is unlikely to slow the long-term trend in 
growing urbanization, but will prompt a rethink in urban design, increasing the 
imperative to develop truly scalable smart city solutions, to put a much greater focus 
on public health and safety, and to deliver greater investment in public infrastructure. 

 

6.1.2 Further Opening Up Of the Economy 

Over the past decades, there have been a growing number of businesses relocating to 
Mauritius which has been made possible to a large extent by the flexible occupational permit 
(“OP”) regime introduced in 2005.  The continued sourcing of international business benefits 
the local economy greatly in terms of consumption and also business habitat. The growing 
number of international businesses relocating to Mauritius also means higher demand for 
office spaces hence benefitting the commercial real estate sector in which the Company 
operates.  As outlined in the Budget 2021/2022, Government will  continue with its policy to 
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attract much needed foreign talents and skills, secure investors and retain professionals and 
retirees and has enacted a series of  measures to that effect.  

 

6.2  Concluding Remarks 

Real estate has been a key driver for both local and global economies for over decades. In 
present times, it has become an increasingly popular asset class. Investors are considering 
their diversification benefits when combined with other asset classes.  

In Mauritius, the real estate industry has been following a constant positive growth 
trajectory since 1980. The advent of the real estate schemes by the government has boosted 
expatriate capital injection in the sector and contributed to the development of the 
industry which has become a major pillar in its own right.  

The opportunity to invest in income yielding, office towers  in such an iconic  location like 
Ebene Cybercity  with high quality tenants is a first in itself. 

 

7 THE COMPANY  

7.1 Company Overview 

The Company was incorporated as a private limited company in Mauritius under the 
Companies Act 2001 on 9 June 2008 with registration number C08081082. On 8 March 2021, 
the Company was converted to a public company limited by shares.  

IHL is an investment holding entity which invests directly or indirectly into completed, high 
quality commercial real estate assets with strong counterparty tenants and contracted rental 
escalations.  The Company currently does not engage in property development and therefore 
does not take any property development risks. 

The Company was the holder of a lease over an area of  4,053 square metres at the Cybercity 
in Ebene, at the time of its formation and developed the plot of land into a six storey office 
building known as The Axis Building in Ebene Cybercity.  The Company subsequently 
disposed of 4 floors in 2013 and kept  the remaining two floors as an investment which it still 
holds today.  

Over the past 9 months, the Company has added a significant number of new properties to 
its portfolio building a sizeable asset pool with the aim of  generating returns for  investors 
seeking a stable source of income from ethical investments in high quality income yielding 
property assets in Mauritius. The Company is committed to achieving the following objectives  
as follows: 

• Adopting a customer-centric approach by delivering optimum quality services to its 
clients 

• Ensuring transparency to all its stakeholders in relation to its investment strategies 

• Continuously improving its property management with the aim of increasing 
investors’ returns 
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The Company has over the course of the last 9 months, acquired the shares of the companies  
as depicted hereunder .  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Following consultation with the Transaction Advisor, the Board of IHL and the Board of the 
various subsidiaries as mentioned above, resolved on 8 July 2021 to proceed with a ‘short form 
amalgamation’ (as defined under the Companies Act 2001) whereby the various subsidiaries 
would be merged into IHL (the amalgamated entity).  Post the amalgamation, the Company 
structure will be as follows:- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The short form amalgamation, i.e. IHL eventually operating as a single entity, provides for a 
simpler structure and more effective from an earnings as well as from a  cash flow perspective. 

The process for the short form amalgamation has already started and is expected to be 
completed within two months of the Issue Date.  Any required changes to the title deeds of 
the properties are likely to be completed by December 2021. 
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7.2 Mr Nawaz Khan Chady and  the Hyvec Group 

The Company is wholly-owned by Mr. Nawaz Khan Chady, who is the founder and Group 
CEO of the HYVEC Group of companies. He started a modest construction company some 30 
years ago which he has built in to a major property development business, ranking 44th by 
Business Magazine’s Top 100 Companies of the Republic of Mauritius (2020 Edition). He is a 
highly regarded business professional who has successfully diversified his group’s activities 
into Fashion & Retail, Food & Restaurants, Building supplies through the representation of 
major global brands. 

The Hyvec Group which has over one thousand employees is a leader in the construction and 
property development sector in Mauritius. It constructed more than 1 million square feet of 
office space in the Ebene Cybercity and is an important landlord in Ebene, Port Louis and 
Vivea Business Park. Over the last 30 years, Hyvec has diversified into other sectors and is 
involved in fashion high-end clothing, leisure and hospitality and represent various brands 
such as Tommy Hilfiger, Armani, Calvin Klein, Ralph Lauren, Gant, Kohler, Grohe, Duravit, 
Smeg, SieMatic, Fila, Caterpillar and Mont Blanc. Last year it won the Burger King franchise 
for Mauritius and several countries in Africa and is also General Sale Agent of Saudi Arabia 
Airline for Mauritius, Reunion Island, Mozambique, Mayotte, Madagascar and Comoros. 
Hyvec also operates various shops for high end clothing brands in South Africa. Hyvec aims 
to be among the Top 10 companies within the next 5 years. Hyvec’s success story is 
attributable to the vision and relentless hard and smart work of Mr Nawaz Khan Chady 
(NKC) and his team of seasoned professionals. 

Mr. Nawaz Khan Chady has never been convicted in Mauritius or elsewhere of any offence 
involving fraud or dishonesty, or in Mauritius of any offence (whether or not involving 
fraud or dishonesty) under the Companies Act, the Securities Act, the Financial Services 
Act, the Bankruptcy Act, the Insolvency Act, the Moneylenders Act, the Banking Act or any 
Act relating to taxation. 

7.3 Businesses of Hyvec Group  
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7.4 Company’s portfolio of investments 

Property 
Completion 

Date / Purchase 
Date 

GLA (sqm) 
TOTAL 

Value4 
TOTAL 

Monthly 
Rental 
Income 

Remaining 
Lease Period 

(Years) 
Occupancy 

Bonn Properties Nov 2016 2,157 MUR 215.6m MUR 1.2m 14.84 100% 

Investcorp 
(Holdings) Ltd 

Apr 2013 1,475 MUR 113.0m MUR 453k 2.59 100% 

HBL 
Development Ltd 

Nov 2005 

Apr 2008 
4,367 MUR 362.4m MUR 2m 4.34 100% 
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Ibiza City 
(Holding) Ltd 

Jun 2020 2,445 MUR 180.5m MUR 200k 10.01 16.7% 

Ibiza Investment 
Ltd3 

Sep 2020 4,925 MUR 400 m MUR 517k 4.59 24.8% 

Eight Sirs 
Investment Ltd 

Nov 2009 1,870 MUR 82.5m MUR 350k 14.84 100% 

Ibiza Properties 
Ltd 

Sep 2020 4,936 MUR 400m MUR 246k 5.59 12.5% 

Hennessy Tower 
Development 

Ltd3 
May 2011 1,770 

MUR 
173.95m 

MUR  826.7k 2.38 100% 

Total  23,945 MUR 
1,927.95 m 

MUR 5.59 m   

 

Notes: 

1. IHL owns a series of properties with a total Gross Lettable Area (“GLA”) of 23,945m2. All 
properties are located in Ebene, Cybercity except the property of Eight Sirs Investment Ltd and 
Hennessy Tower Development Ltd which are located in Grand Bay and Port Louis respectively. 

2. Weighted Average Lease to Expiry (WALE):   7 years.  The WALE assumes that lease 
agreements would start in June 2021. 

3. Remaining Lease Period based on an average of the remaining lease periods of the floors owned 
by the subsidiary. 

4. The Gross Asset Value of the properties mentioned in the above table has been determined 
following the recent valuations carried out by Prime Pillar Valuation Services Ltd. 

5. The Company does not own any assets outside of Mauritius. 

 

The properties listed in the above table have been acquired through purchase of shares. The 
proceeds from the issue of the Notes will be partly used to pay the share purchase 
consideration as laid down in the Share Purchase Agreement between IHL and Mr. Nawaz 
Khan Chady dated 30 December 2020 and in the addendum to the Share Purchase Agreement 
dated 30 June 2021.    

Following the recent acquisition of Hennessy Tower Development Ltd, the current value of 
IHL properties stands at MUR 1,927.95M.  

The Company has provided for an annual escalation in total rent, either in line with the 
percentage increase in CPI (Consumer Price Index) or a percentage increase ranging from 3-5 
percent  in most of the lease contracts. 

IHL’s Leasehold Land 
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IHL  is required to pay annual rental to Landscope Ltd for the leasehold rights of state-owned 
land on which the current portfolio of properties currently sit in Ebene. The annual rental due 
to Government is revised upwards every three (3) years by the cumulative increase in inflation 
but capped at 9%, with the exception of Eight Sirs Ltd where the building complex has been 
erected on a leasehold land rented from the Government of Mauritius. In the case of Eight Sirs 
Ltd, the annual rental due to the Government is revised upwards every three years by the 
cumulative increase in inflation but capped at 15.7625%. 

 

7.5 Vision and Mission 

The Company aims to be a generator of attractive returns for income seeking investors though 
its ethical investment in high quality, income yielding property assets and prides itself on 
passion, commitment and integrity to deliver superior value to ALL its stakeholders. 

 

 

7.6 Management Team and Service Providers 

7.6.1 The Management Team  

The management team will bear key responsibilities in: 

 identifying potential investments; 

 due diligence of potential investments, advising on making an investment, advising on 
follow-on investments; 

 evaluate, negotiate and prepare (or cause to be prepared) all necessary investment 
agreements, loan agreements, shareholders' agreements and disinvestment or disposal 
agreements; 

 engaging professional advisors; 

 monitoring payment of dividends; 

Customer Centric with the aim 
to deliver the required quality 
and services to its Clients

Transparency to all its 
stakeholders in relation to IHL  

strategies

Achieving sustainability through the 
use of latest technology and 

ensuring environmentally approved 
materials are used for its investment 

properties

Continuous improvement in its 
Property Management with the aim 

of increasing investor returns

1. Recognised property investor  in  Mauritius

2. Generate attractive rental yields
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 monitoring compliance with relevant agreements; 

 assist with the valuation of the portfolio of properties; and 

 supervise property management services performed for the property portfolio. 

IHL has a dynamic team of property and investment professionals to assist them in delivering 
quality service to their clients. The team is headed by Mr Bhanu P. Jaddoo as the CEO and 
supported by Mrs Christine John Chuan as deputy CEO. The property management activities 
has been outsourced to Hyvec Property Investment Ltd. The Company will make use of 
external advisers on a needs basis so as to keep the Company's structure very lean, and more 
focussed on investor and wider stakeholdership management. 

 

 

7.6.2 Notaries 

The Company requires the assistance of independent notaries in the conduct of its business. 
Generally, requests for proposal are sent to a minimum of three (3) Notaries prior to 
onboarding independent notaries. The decision to onboard a notary would be subject to the 
approval of the Board of Directors. 

 

7.6.3 Property Valuers  

As per the Company’s policy, requests for proposal are sent to a minimum of three (3) 
property valuers prior to onboarding independent property valuers. The decision to onboard 
property valuer would be subject to the approval of the Board of Directors.  It should be noted 
that the Properties mentioned in Section 7.4 were valued by Prime Pillar Valuation Services 
Limited in the last quarter of 2020 (except the 5 floors in Hennessy Tower which were valued 
in June 2021). 
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7.6.4 Independent Auditors  

Deloitte was appointed as the statutory auditors for the Company and the Group for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020 and the intention is to reappoint Deloitte as the 
statutory auditors for the financial year ending 31 December 2021, subject to shareholder’s 
approval.  Nexia Baker & Arenson have acted in such capacity for the financial year ended 31 
December 2019. 

 

7.6.5 Arranger and Transaction Advisor 

The Company has appointed Perigeum Capital Ltd (“Perigeum Capital”) as its transaction 
advisor and arranger. Perigeum Capital holds an Investment Advisor (Corporate Finance 
Advisory) license issued by the FSC in February 2017. It has been in existence since 2016 and 
is a corporate finance house which is geared towards providing businesses with the 
professional representation and insight they need to execute successful transactions within 
the precincts of their individual corporate objectives and beyond. 

Perigeum Capital shall act as the arranger, book runner and placing agent for the private 
placement and will also handle the listing application process with the SEM.  Perigeum has 
also been engaged as the SEM authorised representative and sponsor of IHL and will advise 
the Company and its directors on compliance with ongoing SEM listing obligations. 
 

7.7 Material contracts 

As at the Last Practicable Date, there were no other contracts entered into (other than the 
material contracts specified below which were entered into within the two years preceding 
the date of issue of these Listing Particulars) by the Company: (i) which is or may be material 
or (ii) which contain any provisions under which the Company has any obligations or 
entitlements which are, or may be material. 

 

1) Notes issue  

IHL had issued on 3 March 2021 by way of private placement a 4.85% secured notes 
amounting to MUR 350M with a maturity of 5 years (“notes issue”).   

Part of the proceeds from the notes issue was used to repay the bank debts of Bonn Properties 
Ltd, Investcorp Holdings Ltd and Ibiza City Holding Ltd amounting to MUR 140.3M. 

 

2)    Loan Agreement with Trocadero Investissement Ltee    

On 30 April 2021, an amount of MUR 165M from the notes issue was loaned out by IHL to 
Trocadero Investissement Ltee, a company within the Group for a property development 
project. Trocadero Investissement Ltee is 100% owned by Mr. Nawaz Khan Chady, the 
ultimate beneficial owner of IHL.  The purpose of the loan was for part financing the 
construction of villas under the Property Development Scheme. 

The loan was fully settled on 30 June 2021 following a Mutual Termination and Release 
Agreement signed between IHL and Trocadero Investissement Ltee. 
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3) Property Management Agreement 

IHL will outsource the property management services to HYVEC Property Investment Ltd, a 
separate entity, which will provide the following: 

• Generally ensure that the portfolio is operated and maintained to the best advantage 
of the Company in order to maximise the investment returns thereon; 

• Provide general administration services and  all information and documentation in 
respect of the Portfolio as may be required by the Company; 

• Manage the relationship with all the  tenants of the leased premises and especially 
with key anchor tenants;  

• Be responsible for vetting new tenants, conducting appropriate KYC, preparing the 
lease agreements and use its best endeavour to optimise the net income of each 
individual property managed; and 

• The  property management company, will also attend to the control, management and 
maintenance of the properties, performing regular inspections  and supervising the 
maintenance, cleaning and security aspects of the Portfolio and complying with laws 
and regulations. 

The property management company will charge an annual property management fee of 2.5% 
of gross annual collectable rental income until 100% occupancy is reached and 5.0% thereafter 
and an incentive fee of 0% until 100% occupancy is reached and 0.25% calculated on the 
market value of rented properties thereafter. 

Hyvec Property Investment Ltd is 100% owned by Mr Nawaz Khan Chady, the ultimate 
beneficial owner of IHL.   

 

4)  Share Purchase Agreement with Mr Nawaz Khan Chady  

On 30 December 2020, a share purchase agreement was entered between IHL and Mr Nawaz 
Khan Chady (“SPA”) in relation to the sale of properties to the Company for a total 
consideration of MUR 757M (“Purchase Price”), as further detailed in the below table.  

Company name 
 

No of Shares 

Purchase Consideration 

MUR (Million) 

1. Eight Sirs Investment 

Ltd 
612 66.99 

2. Bonn Properties Ltd  600 168.76 

3. Ibiza Properties Ltd 100 183.29 



 

Page 51 of 75 

Company name 
 

No of Shares 

Purchase Consideration 

MUR (Million) 

4. Ibiza City (Holdings) 

Ltd 
100 88.70 

5. Ibiza Investment Ltd  100 213.96 

6. HBL Development Ltd  300 35.30 

 TOTAL  757 

 

In the SPA, it was recorded and agreed that an amount of MUR 100M had already been paid 
to Mr Nawaz Khan Chady out of the Purchase Price (i.e. through the issue of an additional 
9,999,000 ordinary shares at MUR 10 each during the year 2020), such that a balance of MUR 
657M is due and payable to Mr Nawaz Khan Chady within a period not exceeding 10 years 
from the date of signature of the SPA.  

On 30 June 2021, an addendum to the SPA (“Addendum”) was signed between IHL and Mr 
Nawaz Khan Chady in relation to the sale of the issued shares of Hennessy Tower 
Development Ltd (“HTDL”) to the Company for a total consideration of MUR 191.43M, which 
is due and payable to Mr Nawaz Khan Chady within a period not exceeding 10 years from 
the date of signature of the Addendum.     

Therefore, as per the SPA and the Addendum, there is an amount of MUR 848.43M which is 
due and payable to Mr Nawaz Khan Chady within a period not exceeding 10 years, but, in 
any case, not earlier than the repayment of the totality of the Notes to all the holders of the 
Notes, either through the disposal of any asset belonging to IHL and/or any of its 
subsidiaries or through any other financing means which IHL and/or any of its subsidiaries 
may avail itself of. 

Following the Mutual Termination and Release Agreement signed between IHL and 
Trocadero Investissement Ltee on 30 June 2021, the actual amount due and payable to Mr. 
Nawaz Khan Chady is MUR 683.43M. 

 

7.8 Stated Capital of the Company 

At time of incorporation, the Company had a total of 1,000 ordinary shares of MUR 10 each.  
During the year 2020, the Company issued 9,999,000 ordinary shares at MUR 10 each. 

The stated capital of the Company as at the Last Practicable Date amounts to MUR 100M and 
is made up of fully paid Ordinary Shares of no par value. Mr Nawaz Khan Chady, as at the 
Last Practicable Date, indirectly held 100% of the share capital of the Company being 
10,000,000 Ordinary Shares via his 100% shareholding in Blue Valley Ltd.   

The rights attached to the Ordinary Shares are as per the Constitution of the Company, which 
are as follows:  
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(a) Voting rights:  

The holders of Ordinary Shares shall be entitled to receive notice of and to 
attend meetings of Shareholders, and each holder holding Ordinary Shares 
shall have the exclusive right (to the exclusion of the holders of the non-voting 
redeemable preference shares to the extent that such non-voting redeemable 
preference shares are actually created and issued by the Company in 
accordance with the provisions of Article 7.4.3 of the Constitution) to cast one 
vote for each Ordinary Share so held with respect to all matters subject to the 
approval of the Shareholders under the Act and under the Constitution.  

(b) Dividend rights: 

Ordinary Shares shall carry an equal right to such dividends and other 
distributions as the Board may, in its sole discretion, determine, and payable 
out of distributable profits available for distribution (if any), provided 
however that any payment of dividends and other distributions to the holders 
of Ordinary Shares shall not be made until and unless the holders of non-
voting redeemable preference shares, to the extent that such non-voting 
redeemable preference shares are actually created and issued by the Company 
in accordance with the provisions of Article 7.4.3 of the Constitution,  have first 
been fully paid such dividends and other distributions in priority.  

(c) Redemption rights: 

Ordinary Shares shall not be redeemable. 

(d) Transfer rights: 

Ordinary Shares are transferrable subject to the provisions of Articles 9, 10 and 
11 of the Constitution. 

(e) Liquidation rights: 

In a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, holders of 
Ordinary Shares shall be entitled to any Surplus Assets available for 
distribution, provided however that any such Surplus Assets shall be paid in 
the first place to the holders of the non-voting redeemable preference shares, 
to the extent that such non-voting redeemable preference shares are actually 
created and issued by the Company in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 7.4.3 of the Constitution, up to the amount invested per Share, and 
Surplus Assets, if any, remaining after that the holders of the non-voting 
redeemable preference shares, to the extent that such non-voting redeemable 
preference shares are actually created and issued by the Company in 
accordance with the provisions of Article 7.4.3 of the Constitution, have been 
paid in full, shall be distributed to the holders of Ordinary Shares.  

 

7.9 Rationale for Listing 

The listing on the Official Market of the SEM is expected to provide greater visibility for the 
Company and the Group and liquidity for investors as well. The listing will further provide 
the Company with a platform and acquisition currency for further expansion and 
diversification, as well as increase the Company’s public presence and profile. The reporting 
requirements of a listed company will also enable the Company to follow industry 
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benchmarks and provide a sound basis for future capital raise, away from a total dependence 
on the Hyvec Group as has been the case so far. Through the SEM listing, the Company also 
expects to widen its investor reach. 

 

8 MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY 

8.1 The Board of Directors  

The Board of Directors is the link between the Company and its stakeholders and Board 
members are collectively responsible to lead and control the Company to enable it to attain its 
strategic objectives. In discharging its duties, the Board shall be guided by the interests of the 
Company and its business and shall take into account the interests of its stakeholders. The 
Board is ultimately accountable to the shareholders of the Company. The broad 
responsibilities of the Board are to:  

 Set the Company’s vision, mission and values; 

 Determine the strategy and policy of the Company to achieve those objectives; 

 Monitor and evaluate the implementation of strategies, policies and performance 
measurements thereof; 

 Exercise leadership, enterprise, integrity and judgment in directing the Company; 

 Identify and assess key risk areas of the business and ensure measures are taken to 
mitigate those risks; 

 Ensure that effective internal control systems are in place to safeguard the Company’s 
assets; 

 Ensure compliance with laws and regulations, including risk management and corporate 
governance practices and disclosure requirements; 

 Assess the internal and external audit functions; 

 Approve the annual report and quarterly financial statements of the Company; 

 Ensure adoption of good corporate governance practices; 

 Ensure effective communication with shareholders and other stakeholders; 

 Together with the Company’s legal advisor, review any legal matters that could have a 
significant impact on the Company’s business; 

 Review executive management reports detailing the accuracy and overall effectiveness of 
the Company’s risk management function and its implementation by management, and 
reports on internal control and any recommendations, and confirm that appropriate action 
has been taken; 

 Review the risk philosophy, strategy and policies and ensure compliance with such 
policies, and with the overall risk profile of the Company. Risks include, amongst others, 
market risks, credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and commercial risk; 
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 Monitor procedures to deal with and review the disclosure of information to shareholders 
and ensure that reports to shareholders as required are submitted on a timely basis. 

In order to meet all the legal and regulatory requirements and effectively discharge its duties 
including the exercise of adequate oversight over the activities of the entire organisation, the 
Board may subcontract certain services to third parties. The Board has established an Audit 
and Risk  Committee, a Nomination and Remuneration Committee and a Governance 
Committee with the appropriate mix of Independent Directors and Executives in line with the 
Mauritian Code of Good Corporate Governance. 

The Composition of the Board Committees are set out below:- 

Audit and Risk Committee Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 

Governance Committee 

Shakil Moollan – Chairman Megh Pillay – Chairman Imtihaz Mamoojee - Chairman 

Chandradev Appadoo Imtihaz Mamoojee Megh Pillay 

Bernard Poinas Nawaz Khan Chady Desmond Goh Ek Ping 

  Nilesh Dabysing 

 

8.2 List of Directors and their profile 

The Board currently consists of 10 members, namely:  

Surname Name Age Address Title 
Current 

Occupation 

Pillay Megh 73 Modern Square, Vacoas Mr 
Chairman & 
Independent 

Director 

Poinas 
Bernard 49 

7, Providence sur mer, 
Poste de Flacq 

Mr 
Independent 

Director 

Goh 
Desmond E P 58 889 Tampines Street 81, 

06-1056, Singapore 520889 
Mr 

Independent 
Director 

Mamoojee Imtihaz 53 Suite 501 Hennessy 
Tower 23 B, Pope 

Hennessy St, Port Louis 

Me 

Independent 
Director Barrister 

at Imtihaz 
Mamoojee 
Chambers 

Moollan Shakil 48 20, Route Palmerstone, 
Phoenix 

Mr 

Independent 
Director 

Founder and 
Group Managing 

Partner of Moollan 
& Moollan 
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The Directors of IHL have not: 

 any unspent convictions in relation to indictable offences; 
 any bankruptcies or individual voluntary arrangements; 
 any receiverships, compulsory liquidations, creditors’ voluntary liquidations, 

administrations, company voluntary arrangements or any composition or 
arrangement with its creditors generally or any class of its creditors of any company 
where they were a director at the time of or within the twelve months preceding such 
events; 

 any compulsory liquidations, administrations or partnership voluntary arrangements 
of any partnerships where they were a partner at the time of or within the twelve 
months preceding such events; 

 been involved in any receiverships of any asset or of a partnership of   which they were 
a partner at the time of or within the twelve months preceding such events; and 

 any public criticisms by statutory or regulatory authorities (including recognised 
professional bodies), and have never been disqualified by a court from acting as a 
director of a company or from acting in the management or conduct of the affairs of 
any company. 
 
 

1) Mr Megh Pillay 

Mr Megh Pillay, C.S.K., holds a track record of success in the transformation and management 
of several major state-owned enterprises. He has been twice Managing Director and CEO of 
Air Mauritius.  Prior to that, he successively served as Chief Executive Officer of the 
Agricultural Marketing Board for five years and  Mauritius Telecom for ten years during 
which, he grew the company into a major Group and as founder Director/Chairman of 
Telecom Plus Ltd, Cellplus Ltd, Call Services Ltd, Multi-Carrier Ltd, MB Mobile (Burundi), 
Telsea Investment Ltd, Antaris S.A. ( now Orange Madagascar), and the SAFE Undersea 
Fiber-Optic Cable Company among others. He was also CEO of the State Trading Corporation 
between 2010 and 2015 with a turnover reaching MUR 42 billion.  He has taken up various 
consultancy assignments, served in an off-shore Management company, then as Director of 
Corporate Affairs at the Financial Services Commission. Megh Pillay attended Royal College 

Chady Nawaz Khan 54 
23, Sir Celicourt Antelme, 

Street, Rose Hill 
Mr 

HYVEC Group 
CEO and Non-

Executive Director 

Appadoo Chandradev 61 
Lot 10, Morcellement 

l’Abri, Pamplemousses 
Mr 

CFO – HYVEC 
Group and Non-

Executive Director 

Dabysing Nilesh 44 
Nandou Avenue, 

Morcellement Sodnac, 
Quatre Bornes 

Mr 

CEO Property 
Management of 

HYVEC Group and 
Non-Executive 

Director 

Jaddoo Bhanu P 58 
23, Eureka Montagne Ory, 

Moka 
Mr 

CEO IHL and 
Executive Director 

John 
Chuan 

Christine 67 
22, Avenue Dr Ross, 

Quatre Bornes 
Mrs 

DCEO IHL and 
Executive Director 
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Curepipe and holds a Master’s degree from the Louisiana State University at Baton Rouge, 
USA, as well as various professional qualifications. 

2) Mr Bernard Poinas 

Mr Bernard Jean Poinas is a French national who is an experience business developer for major 
European investment funds. The past 7 years he has been entrusted with large scale shopping 
mall developments including the management of 4 Intermarchés. Since 2015, he has been the 
principle business development agent for Kaufman & Broad in France. He also had a sporting 
career as a professional footballer. He now resides in Mauritius.  

3) Mr E.P Desmond Goh 

Mr Desmond Goh is a seasoned businessman and innovation engineer. He has a string 
technical background and has served on many company board in South East Asia including, 
Famex international (Singapore), Asia Pacific International Schools (Cambodia), Venture 
Autoparts Group (Thailand) and Famex Automation Pte Ltd Singapore). He recently 
conceptualised, designed and produced the world’s first unmanned Automated Tray Return 
System and as well as the latest cashless and fully robotic Food Centre.  

4) Mr Shakil Ibrahim Moollan  

Mr Shakil Ibrahim Moollan has 20 years of experience as Partner in international accounting 
and audit firms and is also the Founder of Moollan & Mool1an (Chartered Certified 
Accountants) in 2012. He is also the Founder of several business units forming the Moollan & 
Moollan Group, providing turn key solutions to businesses for their financial administration.  

5) Mr Imtihaz Mamoojee 

Mr Imtihaz Mamoojee is a Barrister since November 1994, specializing in civil, insurance, 
arbitration, commercial, corporate and banking law. He has wide experience in French civil 
law and common law. He is currently Head of Chambers of Imtihaz Mamoojee Chambers.  
He was a past Vice-Chairman of the Motor Vehicle Insurance Arbitration Committee 
(MVIAC) under the aegis of the Ministry of Public Infrastructure. 

He holds a Bachelor’s of Laws Degree from the University of Mauritius and has served on the 
boards of a couple of companies. 

6) Mr Nawaz Khan Chady 

Mr Nawaz Khan Chady is currently Chairman and Managing Director of HYVEC Group with 
over 30 years’ experience in the construction industry, management of property development 
& import/export businesses internationally. He is a Professional in Building and Construction 
and has excellent organisational, leadership and team working skills.    

7) Mr. Chandradev Appadoo  

Mr. Chandradev Appadoo has over 35 years of experience at the State Bank of Mauritius Ltd, 
mostly at senior line level across retail and corporate banking, operations management, risk 
management, compliance with core competencies in Finance and company secretary. He 
served as an executive director on the Board of the bank from 2011 to 2017. 

He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA) and is an 
associate of the Chartered Institute of Bankers (ACIB). 
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He served on the board of various companies including several companies of the SBM Group, 
State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd (SICOM); State Property Development Company 
Ltd, Club Mediterranee Albion Resort Ltd; SME Equity Fund Ltd. 

8) Mr Nilesh Dabysing   

Mr Nilesh Dabysing joined the Hyvec Group in January 2020 as Chief Executive Officer of the 
Property Division. 

He holds a Bachelor in Commerce (BCOM) with specialization in Sales and Marketing and an 
MBA. 

Mr Nilesh Dabysing started his career in 2003 as Business Development Executive with the 
Mon Loisir Group, now IBL.  He was mandated the task to develop the business in Africa.  

In 2007, he joined Rogers as Commercial Manager- Property Department which later became 
the Property Division of Rogers Group and was branded as Foresite Property and Ascencia 
Ltd, being the Property Fund.  He was promoted to Marketing Manager in 2009 and to Head 
of Operations in 2011. Through a merger in 2014, Nilesh joined EnAtt Ltd, a subsidiary of ENL 
as Asset Manager and was promoted to Head of Property Development in 2016. 

9) Mr Bhanu P. (Raju) Jaddoo 

Mr Raju Jaddoo is a Corporate Finance and Investment Advisory professional with a focus on 
investment management and governance. He acts as an Independent Director on the board of 
a number of Private Equity funds bringing along a deep understanding of regulatory and 
compliance issues. 

He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales and an Associate 
member of the Institute  since 1989. He is also a registered Insolvency Practitioner.  

Mr Raju Jaddoo  currently chairs the Risk committee of a domestic bank in his capacity as an 
Independent Board Director. Mr Jaddoo was the Secretary General of the Mauritius Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry (MCCI) from 2013 to 2018. Established in 1850, the MCCI is the 
oldest and only multi-sectoral organisation representing the private sector in Mauritius with 
a wide membership representing directly and indirectly almost 60 percent of the GDP of the 
country. In its advocacy role, he was responsible for the Chamber’s interactions with 
Government agencies, regulators, financial intermediaries and foreign diplomatic missions. 

As Managing Director of the Board of Investment from 2005 to 2010, Mr. Jaddoo led the 
national investment promotion agency of Mauritius with the primary objective of improving 
the national investment climate and in providing policy advice to Government on investment 
promotion and facilitation.  

Mr. Jaddoo has also served as Chief Financial Officer of Titanium Resources Group Ltd (TRG)  
a public company listed on the London Stock Exchange and operating in the metals and 
mining sector in West Africa. In this capacity, he has raised finance in excess of US $200m 
from London, New York and other financial centres, being responsible to interact with EU 
and New York hedge fund managers, brokers and high-net-worth individuals. 

Prior to 2005, Mr Jaddoo spent 15 years as a Partner, responsible for Financial Consulting at 
De Chazal Du Mee Chartered Accountants which used to be the representative firm of Arthur 
Andersen based in Mauritius and with offices in several African countries. 

10) Mrs Christine John Chuan 
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Mrs Christine Yeung Min John Chuan joined State Bank of Mauritius Ltd (SBM) since its 
inception in 1973 till July 2007.  As a Team Leader with SBM, she led a cluster of branches in 
Retail Banking and eventually a portfolio of Large customers in Corporate Banking.  In 
August 2007, she joined Barclays Bank Mauritius Ltd (now ABSA Mauritius Ltd) and spent 
12 years as Senior Corporate Manager in the Corporate & International Banking Division 
where she was responsible for managing and sustaining a portfolio of Large Corporate 
customers, both in private and public sectors. She graduated from the University of Surrey, 
U.K. and holds a Master in Business Administration. 

 

8.3 Interests of Directors 

The following table shows the interests of the Directors and their associates in the share capital 
of the Company as at the Last Practicable Date. 

Directors Direct holding Indirect holding 

Nawaz Khan Chady - 100%* 

Chandradev Appadoo  - - 

Nilesh Dabysing   - - 

Imtihaz Mamoojee - - 

Megh Pillay - - 

Shakil Ibrahim Moollan - - 

Bernard Poinas - - 

Desmond Goh - - 

Bhanu P. Jaddoo - - 

Christine John Chuan - - 

 * Through its 100% ownership of Blue Valley Ltd. 
 

8.4 List of directorships 

The table below lists the companies and partnerships of which each director of the Company 
is currently a director or partner as well as the companies and partnerships of which each 
director of the Company was a director or partner over the five years preceding these Listing 
Particulars: 
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8.5 Conflicts of Interests 

 A director of the Company shall, forthwith after becoming aware of the fact that he is 
interested in a transaction entered into or to be entered into by the Company, disclose the 
interest to all other directors of the Company. 
 

 For the purposes of above, a disclosure to all other directors to the effect that a director is 
a member, director or officer of another named entity or has a fiduciary relationship with 
respect to the entity or a named individual and is to be regarded as interested in any 
transaction which may, after the date of the entry into the transaction or disclosure, of the 
interest, be entered into with that entity or individual, is a sufficient disclosure of interest 
in relation to that transaction. 

 
 A director of the Company having a material interest in a transaction entered into or to 

be entered by the Company shall not vote on a matter relating to the transaction in which 
he or his associates have a material interest and shall not be counted among the directors 
present at the meeting for the purposes of a quorum. 

NAME COMPANY FROM TO POSITION 

TO INDICATE 
WHETHER STILL A 

DIRECTOR OR 
PARTNER 

Mr Megh Pillay 

Air Mauritius Holding Limited 

March 2016 Nov 2016 

Director Resigned  

Air Mauritius Limited Director Resigned  

Air Mauritius Holidays Limited Director Resigned  

Mauritius Helicopter Limited Director Resigned  

Airmate Limited Director Resigned  

Mauritius Estate Development 
Corporation Limited 

Director Resigned  

Pointe Cotton Resort Hotel Limited Director Resigned  

Mr Desmond Goh Famex Int. 1994 2021 Director Yes, Director 

Mr Bernard Poinas Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Mr Imtihaz 
Mamoojee Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Mr Shakil Moollan Medine Ltd 30/09/2015 Up to date 
Independent  

Non-Exec Director 
Yes, Director 

Mr Eshan Khan 
Chady Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Mr Nilesh 
Dabysing 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Mr Chandradev 
Appadoo 

SBM Bank (Mauritius) Ltd  2011 2017 Executive Director  Resigned  

Mr Bhanu P. 
Jaddoo ABC Banking Corporation 2018 Up to date Director Yes, Director 

Mrs Christine John 
Chuan La Prudence Leasing Finance Ltd Aug 2020 Up to date Director Yes, Director 
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 The Company maintains a director’s interests register pursuant to the Act and ensures 

that it is updated regularly. 
 All Directors are required to notify the Company Secretary in writing of their direct 

and indirect interests in IHL.  
 Directors, becoming aware of the fact that they are interested in a transaction or 

proposed transaction with the Company, disclose this to the Board and cause this 
information to be entered in the interests register.  

Targeted investors are advised that Messrs Chady, Appadoo, Jaddoo and Dabysing are 
employed by and/or are directors of entities within the Group namely Hyvec Partners 
Ltd and HBL Development Ltd (its affiliates, parent company and sister company), which 
may result in conflicts between the financial interests of the Company and the interest of 
other entities within the Group. In addition, Mr Chady, who is a director and the current 
ultimate beneficial owner of IHL, is the controlling shareholder of the companies within 
the Hyvec Group.  

8.6 Remuneration and benefits (Non-Executive Directors) 

Fees and other financial benefits which were paid to the Independent Directors and other 
Non-Executive Directors in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2020 are as 
follows: 

Directors Title MUR 

Nawaz Khan Chady Non-Executive Director Nil 

Chandradev Appadoo  Non-Executive Director Nil 

Nilesh Dabysing   Non-Executive Director Nil 

Imtihaz Mamoojee Independent Director Nil 

Megh Pillay Independent Director Nil 

Shakil Ibrahim Moollan Independent Director Nil 

Bernard Poinas Independent Director Nil 

Desmond Goh Independent Director Nil 

 

Fees and other financial benefits which are projected to be paid to the Independent Directors 
and other Non-Executive Directors in respect of the financial year ending 31 December 2021 
are as follows: 

Directors Title MUR 

Nawaz Khan Chady Non-Executive Director Nil 

Chandradev Appadoo  Non-Executive Director Nil 

Nilesh Dabysing   Non-Executive Director Nil 

Imtihaz Mamoojee Independent Director 300,000 

Megh Pillay Independent Director 650,000 

Shakil Ibrahim Moollan Independent Director 285,000 

Bernard Poinas Independent Director 285,000 

Desmond Goh Independent Director 285,000 
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8.7  Service contracts (Executive Directors) 

As at the Last Practicable Date, only two Directors (Mr Bhanu P. Jaddoo and Mrs Christine 
John Chuan) had service contracts with the Company. 

(a) Mr Bhanu P. Jaddoo holds a service contract as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
of Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd since 23rd October 2020.  His primary 
responsibilities include making major corporate decisions, managing the 
overall operations and resources of the company, acting as the main point of 
communication between the Board of Directors and corporate operations. He 
is also responsible for managing investor relations and dealing with all 
regulatory and compliance matters. 

(b) Mrs Christine John Chuan serves as the Company’s Deputy CEO on  a contract 
basis effective 23rd October 2020.  Her key responsibilities consist of assisting 
the CEO in managing and supervising the provision of services to the 
Company’s clients, participating in the business development activities and 
addressing issues in the overall operations of the company. 

Both Mr Bhanu P. Jaddoo and Mrs Christine John Chuan sit as Executive Directors on the 
Board of Directors of Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd. 

Fees and other financial benefits which were paid to the Executive Directors in respect of the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows: 

Directors Title MUR 

Bhanu P. Jaddoo Executive Director 400,000 

Christine John Chuan  Executive Director 250,000 

 

Fees and other financial benefits which are payable to the Executive Directors in respect of the 
financial year ending 31 December 2021 are as follows: 

Directors Title MUR 

Bhanu P. Jaddoo Executive Director 2,400,000 

Christine John Chuan  Executive Director 1,500,000 

 

The Hyvec Group has agreed to subsidise salaries and related costs by 50% until occupancy 
level  reaches 90% from its current level of c.70%. 

8.8  Company Secretary 

Mr. Yves Meyepa currently acts as the company secretary of IHL.  Yves joined Hyvec Group 
as Finance Director in 2014 and in 2018 was appointed Group Internal Auditor and Group 
Company Secretary. Prior to joining the Hyvec Group, he had been working at IBL for 40 
years and in different capacities, including Group Finance Manager and Group Treasurer. 
Yves Meyepa was the Managing Director of the Mauritian Eagle Leasing Co Ltd, a subsidiary 
of IBL, since inception of that company in 2001 until his retirement in June 2014. 
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Yves Meyepa is a Fellow (FCMA) and a Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA) 
from the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants. 
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9 RISK FACTORS 

General  

The risk factors which are considered by the board to be material are described in this section. 
However, these factors should not be regarded as a complete and comprehensive statement 
of all potential risks and uncertainties. The operations of the Company may be adversely 
impeded by additional risks not presently known to the board or that the latter currently 
considers being immaterial. The materialization of any of these risks could lead to the decline 
of the trading price of the Notes and as such, this could affect the investment of the targeted 
investors. 

Prior to making an investment decision, targeted investors should carefully consider all the 
information set out in these Listing Particulars, including the following risk factors and 
consult their professional advisors. 

The Board will have the responsibility of identifying and managing the risks but can  delegate 
such to responsibility for supervising risk management processes and activities to IHL’s Audit 
and Risk Committee. The Committee will provide assistance to the Board in fulfilling its 
oversight responsibilities for the financial reporting process, risk management, the system of 
internal control, the audit process, and the Company’s process for monitoring compliance 
with laws and regulations.  

A key responsibility of the Audit and Risk Committee is the formulation of a risk management 
framework and documentation  which sets out the organisational framework, risk 
identification process, risk ranking matrix and risk management procedure. The risk 
management procedure sets out the cycle of managing risks. Due to the dynamic nature of 
the economic environment in which IHL operates, risks, and the impact thereof, change 
constantly. Accordingly, risk management is a dynamic and ongoing discipline which is 
continuously adapted to its environment. The risk management procedure entails: (i) 
identifying; (ii) assessing; (iii) managing; (iv) monitoring; (v) reporting; and (vi) re-assessing 
risks. Risks are assessed with reference to the potential impact and probability of each risk 
and ranked accordingly. 

 

9.1 RISK RELATED TO THE ISSUER 

9.1.1 MACRO ECONOMIC RISK  

The value of the Company’s assets may be affected by  changes in government policies, 
changes in taxation and a shift in broader national level economic activity, as recently 
experienced as a result of the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic. The Company, however, is not 
dependent on external debt. Also, the creditworthiness of the tenant mix of the Company can 
to a large extent withstand economic volatilities. 

9.1.2 CREDIT/DEFAULT RISK 

Business uncertainty could cause tenants to go out of business or fail to make timely lease 
payments as they fall due, thereby giving rise to a credit or default risk.  

Collection of rentals are managed by strict advance rental collection policies effected via bank 
channels. The rentals are also long term leases with a number of reputable domestic and 
international blue chip clients.  



 

Page 64 of 75 

 

9.1.3 TENANT CONCENTRATION RISK 

Over exposure to key tenants could result in financial loss should these tenants experience 
financial difficulties. Similarly the current tenant mix is heavily geared towards the services 
sector, such that any domestic economic downturn could affect the rental income stream. The 
services sector has, however, shown significant resilience even during the Covid-19 and is 
predicted to show sustainable growth as per World Bank economic forecasts.  It should also 
be noted that the current tenant mix comprises domestic banks whose businesses are well 
diversified and large corporates deriving their cashflows from outside Mauritius. 

9.1.4 COMPETITION  RISK 

Both rental income and property values may also be affected by other factors specific to the 
real estate market, such as competition from other property owners, the perceptions of 
prospective tenants of the attractiveness, convenience and safety of properties, the periodic 
need to renovate, repair and release space and the costs thereof, the costs of maintenance and 
insurance, and increased operating costs.  

9.1.5 LIQUIDITY RISK 

Significant delays or non-receipt of rental income could result in cash flow liquidity issues 
and potentially an inability for the issuer to meet its obligations on the due dates.  

9.1.6 VALUATION RISK 

Property and real estate related assets are inherently difficult to value due to the specific 
nature of each property. As a result, valuations are subject to uncertainty. There is no 
assurance that the estimates resulting from the valuation process will reflect the actual sales 
price even where a sale occurs shortly after the valuation date. The performance of any 
underlying property investments would be adversely affected by a downturn in the property 
market in terms of capital value or a weakening of rental yields.  

9.1.7 NON-RENEWAL OF LEASES 

There is always a risk that the lease agreements entered into with Landscope Ltd will not be 
renewed.  However, the risk is very minimal as it is very unlikely that Landscope Ltd will not 
renew the leases of land on which buildings have already been constructed. 

9.1.8 LOCATION RISK 

The majority of the properties owned by the Group are located in Ebene Cybercity.  Ebene 
Cybercity has already matured as the International Financial Centre of Mauritius and the 
location of choice for both domestic and global corporates.  Almost all the Banks in Mauritius 
now have a physical presence in Ebene Cybercity and the major international law firms have 
also established themselves in Ebene Cybercity.  The risk that Ebene Cybercity loses its 
attractiveness as a prime business location is therefore very minimal. 

9.1.9 KEY PERSON RISK 

Mr. Nawaz Khan Chady is currently the sole shareholder and promoter of IHL.  However, as 
mentioned in Section 7.6.1, IHL has a dynamic team of property and investment professionals 
to assist them in delivering quality service to their clients. The team is headed by Mr Bhanu 
P. Jaddoo as the CEO and supported by Mrs Christine John Chuan as deputy CEO. The 
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property management activities has also been outsourced to Hyvec Property Investment Ltd.  
There are also Board committees (Audit & Risk Committee, Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee) that have been set up to assist the Board 
of Directors. 

9.1.10 OTHER RISK 

The Hyvec Group has agreed to subsidise salaries and related costs by 50% until occupancy 
level  reaches 90% from its current level of c.70%.  In the event that the Hyvec Group ceases 
to provide such subsidy which results in a breach of a financial covenant as disclosed in 
Section 2,  the Issuer shall notify the Noteholders of such breach within 3 Business Days 
thereof and shall remedy such breach in accordance with Condition 4.15.2. 

9.2 RISK RELATED TO THE NOTES 

9.2.1 THE NOTES MAY NOT BE A SUITABLE INVESTMENT FOR ALL INVESTORS 

The Notes that will be offered to ‘qualified investors’ (as this term is defined in Chapter 18 
Part B of the SEM Listing Rules, that is investors acceptable to the SEM who are 
knowledgeable and understand the risks of investing in specialist debt instruments and 
include but are not limited to expert investors as defined in the Securities (Collective 
Investment Schemes and Closed-end Funds) Regulations 2008).  

Each potential investor must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own 
circumstances.  

In particular, each potential investor should: 

 have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, 
the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or 
incorporated by reference in these Listing Particulars;  

 have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context 
of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact such an 
investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;  

 have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment 
in the Notes;  

 understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any 
relevant indices and financial markets; and  

 be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios 
for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability 
to bear the applicable risks. 

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. Sophisticated institutional investors generally 
do not purchase complex financial instruments as stand-alone investments. They purchase 
complex financial instruments as part of an overall portfolio strategy with an understood, 
measured and appropriate contribution to risk and diversification of their overall portfolios. 
A potential investor should not invest in Notes that are complex financial instruments unless 
it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will 
perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the 
impact this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.  
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9.2.2 DEFAULT RISK 

Investment in the Notes may be subject to the risk of default of the Issuer.  The Notes are 
secured by various underlying assets, and as such reduces the risk of default for the 
Noteholders.   
 
9.2.3 REFINANCING RISK 

At least twelve (12) months prior to the Maturity Date, the Issuer shall notify and inform the 
Noteholders’ Representative of its financing plan for the redemption of the Notes, i.e. either 
through a term loan(s) or through the disposal of asset(s) or through the issue of new securities 
or such other means as the Board would think appropriate. 

9.2.4 INTEREST RATE RISK 

Interest rate risk is the risk that interest rates may be adjusted in a way that is detrimental to 
Noteholders.  The Notes being fixed rate notes, are therefore not impacted by any increase or 
decrease in the Repo Rate which is set by the Bank of Mauritius.  
 
9.2.5 CHANGES IN LAWS AND REGULATIONS 

The Company and the Notes are governed by, and will be construed in accordance with, the 
Mauritian law. No assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or 
change to Mauritian law or administrative practice after the date of the Listing Particulars. 
Legal and regulatory changes could occur that may adversely affect, in quantum, value or 
otherwise, any pay out of interest that may be or become payable in respect of the Notes. 

9.2.6 CHANGES IN TAXATION LEGISLATION 

Any change in the tax status of the Company, or in taxation legislation in Mauritius or such 
other jurisdiction may affect, in quantum, value or otherwise, any pay out of interest that may 
be or become payable in respect of the Notes. Investors are urged to consult their own tax 
advisers with respect to their particular tax situations and the tax effects of an investment in 
the Notes. 

9.2.7 CREDIT RATING 

Whilst the Notes to be issued have been rated, it should be highlighted that a rating is not a 
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction 
or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency. 

Any adverse change in the credit rating could adversely affect the trading price for the Notes 
issued. 

9.2.8 LEGAL RESTRICTIONS ON CERTAIN INVESTMENTS 

The investment activities of some potential investors may be subject to investment laws and 
regulations, or review or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should 
consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent (i) Notes are legal 
investments for it, (ii) Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing and (iii) 
other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes. Financial institutions should 
consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate 
treatment of Notes under any applicable risk based capital or similar rules. 

9.2.9 MODIFICATION, WAIVERS AND SUBSTITUTION 
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The conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider 
matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind 
all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting 
and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. 

9.2.10 FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

These Listing Particulars may contain certain forward-looking statements and descriptions of 
returns to be achieved. Although these forward-looking statements and objectives are based 
upon assumptions and researches that the Company believes are reasonable, actual results of 
operations and achievements may differ materially from the statements and objectives set 
forth in these Listing Particulars. 

The foregoing list of risk factors does not purport to be a complete explanation of the risks 
involved in this offering. Potential investors must read the entire Listing Particulars before 
determining whether to invest in the Notes. All potential investors must obtain professional 
guidance from their advisors in evaluating all of the implications and risks involved in 
investing in the Notes.   

9.3 RISK RELATED TO THE SECURITY INTERESTS 

9.3.1 RANKING OF SECURITY INTERESTS  

The Security Interests created under the Security Documents will not be first ranking over the 
Attributed Properties for a limited period of time until the repayment of the Existing 
Indebtedness and the release of the Existing Encumbrances where the Security Interests in 
favour of the Noteholders will become first ranking.  

Until the repayment of the Existing Indebtedness and the release of the Existing 
Encumbrances, the rights of the Noteholders over the  Attributed Properties in an event of 
default, will be subject to the prior  ranking security rights of existing secured lenders of the 
Issuer and the Security Providers over the Attributed Properties. 

9.3.2 SECURITY OVER THE COLLATERAL WILL NOT BE GRANTED DIRECTLY TO 
THE NOTEHOLDERS  

Security Interests created under the Security Documents will not be granted directly to the 
Noteholders but will be granted only in favour of the Noteholders’ Representative. 
Accordingly, the Noteholders will not be entitled to take enforcement action in respect of the 
Security Interests for the Notes, except through the Noteholders’ Representative. 

9.3.3 THE COLLATERAL MAY BE VOIDABLE 

The Security Interests under the Security Documents may be voidable under insolvency, 
bankruptcy, fraudulent transfer or similar laws of Mauritius. In particular, the Security 
Interests may be voidable under Mauritius law if the security has been created up to two years 
from the commencement date of the winding-up of the entity providing the Security Interests. 
If the Security Interests are voided for any reason, Noteholders would have only an unsecured 
claim against the Issuer and the Security Provider. 

9.3.4 RIGHTS OF THE NOTEHOLDERS MAY BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY THE 
FAILURE TO PERFECT SECURITY INTERESTS CREATED UNDER THE 
SECURITY DOCUMENTS 
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Under Mauritian applicable law, the Security Interests created under the Security Documents 
over the Attributed Properties can only be fully properly perfected, and its priority retained, 
through the registration and inscription with the Registrar General and Conservator of 
Mortgages in Mauritius.  Any failure to perfect any Security Interest may result in the 
invalidity of the relevant Security Interest or adversely affect the priority of such Security 
Interest in favour of the Notes against third-parties. 
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10 FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

10.1 Financial Statements of IHL 

The audited financial statements of IHL for the year ended 31 December 2020 are presented 
in Appendix 2.  The unaudited financial statements of the Company for the period ended 30 
June 2021 are presented in Appendix 3.  Post the listing on the SEM, the Company will be 
publishing its unaudited financial statements on a quarterly basis. 

10.2 Base Currency 

Transactions of the Company will be mainly denominated in Mauritian Rupees (MUR). The 
financial reports and statements will be presented in MUR. 

10.3 Dividend policy 

The Company has a Board approved dividend policy to distribute to its shareholders part of 
its profit after tax based on rentals received from tenants, less cash components of 
administrative expenses and property management fees subject to compliance with the 
solvency and liquidity requirements set out in the Mauritian Companies Act 2001. 

Ordinary Shares shall carry an equal right to such dividends and payable out of distributable 
profits available for distribution (if any), provided however that any payment of dividends to 
the holders of Ordinary Shares shall not be made until and unless the holders of non-voting 
redeemable preference shares (to the extent that such non-voting redeemable preference 
shares are actually created and issued by the Company)  have first been fully paid such 
dividends in priority. 

The Company has this far never declared any dividend. 

The Company shall not declare or pay any dividend to the ordinary shareholder until full 
repayment of the Notes. 

10.4 Analysis of consolidated third party borrowings & charges as at 30 June 2021 

As at 30 June 2021, the third party borrowings of the Group were as follows and secured on 
the assets mentioned in section 7.4.  

 COMPANY BANK 
REMAINING 

BALANCE AS AT 30 
JUNE 2021 (MUR) 

1 HBL DEVELOPMENT LTD ABSA 124,875,000   

2 INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD MAUBANK 305,000,000 

3 IBIZA INVESTMENT LTD SBM 116,970,076.02  

4 IBIZA PROPERTIES LTD MAUBANK 140,404,599.68  

   687,249,675.70 
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11 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

11.1 Legal and arbitration proceedings 

As far as the Directors are aware, there are no legal or arbitration proceedings, 
whether active, pending or threatened against or being brought by, the Company 
or any member of its group which are having or may have a significant effect on 
the Issuer's financial position. 

 

11.2 Expenses of the listing and Offer 

An application shall be made for the listing of the Notes on the Official Market of 
the SEM. The total estimated proceeds from the issue of the Notes is MUR1,000M 
and the estimated cost for the Offer and admission of the Notes on the Official 
Market of the SEM is as follows:  

EXPENSES AMOUNT 

(MUR) 

Printing, stationery and postage  950,000 

Transaction Advisor and Placing 
Agent 

650,000 

Capital raising fee 1,705,500 

Registrar & Transfer, Paying and 
Calculation Agent 

310,000 

Noteholders’ Representative and 
Security agent 

100,000 

Legal Adviser  300,000 

Property Valuers  300,000 

PR related costs (including logo and 
website design)  

534,500 

Application and listing fees payable 
to the SEM  

150,000 

Total estimated expenses  5,000,000 

 

11.3 Payments or benefits in connection with the issue or sale of shares 

There have been no commissions, discounts, brokerages or other special terms granted 
within the two years immediately preceding the issue of these Listing Particulars in 
connection with the issue or sale of any capital of any member of the Group, and none 
of the Directors of IHL, promoters or experts have received any such payment or 
benefit. 
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11.4 Approvals 

The Board has approved the issuance of the Notes and the listing of the Notes on the 
Official Market of the SEM on 28 May 2021, pursuant to the Constitution. 

 

11.5 Documents available for inspection  

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the 
Company’s registered office during business hours from the date of issue of these 
Listing Particulars for a minimum period of 14 calendar days: 

(a) The Constitution;  

(b) These Listing Particulars; 

(c) All Material Contracts / Agreements mentioned in Section 7.7; 

(d) Valuation Reports issued by Prime Pillars Ltd; 

(e) Audited Financial Statements as at 31 December 2020; 

(f) Unaudited Financial Statements as at 30 June 2021; 

(g) Termsheet for MUR 1 Billion Fixed Rate Secured Notes; 

(h) Credit Rating report from CARE Ratings (Africa) Private Limited; 

(i) The Noteholders’ Representative Agency Agreement; 

(j) Agency Agreement; and 

(k) The Security Documents. 
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APPENDICES 

Appendix 1: Investment Portfolio  

  

  

Name of 
Company BRN 

SHARE 
CAPITAL/
STATED 
CAPITAL 
(MUR) 

NATURE OF BUSINESS  
EFFECTIVE 
% HELD BY 
IHL 

DATE OF 
INCORPORATION 

Ibiza 
Investment 
Ltd 

C14127091 10,000 

Activities of  
Holding/Management/Invest
ment  
Companies (with or without 
managing) 

100% 
15th December 2014, 
Mauritius 

Ibiza City 
(Holding) 
Ltd 

C14127102 10,000 

Activities of  
Holding/Management/Invest
ment Companies (with or 
without managing) 

100% 
16th December 2014, 
Mauritius 

Ibiza 
Properties 
Ltd 

C14127090 10,000 

Activities of 
Holding/Management/Invest
ment 
Companies (with or without 
managing) 

100% 
15th December 2014, 
Mauritius 

HBL 
Development 
Ltd 

C11100871 30,000 

Activities of 
Holding/Management/Invest
ment 
Companies (with or without 
managing) 

100% 
21st February 2011, 
Mauritius 

Bonn 
Properties 
Ltd 

C16142531 60,030,000 

Activities of 
Holding/Management/Invest
ment 
Companies (with or without 
managing) 

100% 
24th October 2016, 
Mauritius 

Eight sirs 
Investment 
Ltd 

C08017639 2,726,800 Tourist residences 100% 
20th March 1997, 
Mauritius 

Hennessy 
Tower 
Development 
Ltd 

C09090193 1,000 Activities of head offices 100% 
1st September 2009, 
Mauritius 
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Appendix 2: Audited Financial Statements as at 31 December 2020 
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Appendix 3: Unaudited financial statements as at 30 June 2021 

 



Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd 

Group Financial statements 

For the Period ended 30 June 2021



INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Audited Audited
2021 2020 2021 2020

Notes Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.
ASSETS
Non-current asset
Investment property 1 1,661,283,333   1,661,283,333   113,000,000      113,000,000   
Plant and Equipment 2 5,161,557           5,195,241           -                            -                        
Rights of use asset 3 92,442,533         92,442,533         -                            -                        
Goodwill 4 11,344,649         11,344,649         
Investment in subsidiaries 5 -                       -                       757,000,787      757,000,787   

1,770,232,072   1,770,265,756   870,000,787      870,000,787   
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 6 48,052,082         31,231,486         3,116,705           608,777           
Amount due from related parties 7 181,364,826       16,502,473         293,373,567      21,255,018     
Cash at bank 13,798,289         11,632,629         1,323,830           2,093,839       

243,215,197      59,366,588         297,814,102      23,957,634     

Total assets 2,013,447,269   1,829,632,344   1,167,814,889   893,958,421   

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Stated capital 100,000,000       100,000,000       100,000,000      100,000,000   
Deemed Interest reserves 11 204,277,673       213,154,596       204,277,673      213,154,596   
Retained earnings 74,501,712         67,432,392         65,251,440         68,577,746     
Total equity 378,779,385      380,586,988      369,529,113      381,732,342   

Non-current liability
Lease Liabilities 11,574,203         10,823,099         -                       -                   
Subordinated debt 11 452,723,114       443,846,191       452,723,114       443,846,191   
Bond 305,000,000       -                       305,000,000       -                   
Borrowings 8 205,330,475       318,004,091       -                            34,256,330     

974,627,792      772,673,381      757,723,114      478,102,521   

Current liabilities
Borrowings 8 177,758,720       215,722,874       -                            2,265,993       
Trade and other payables 9 34,534,003         106,036,693       6,849,453           2,141,904       
Lease liabilities -                       562,949              -                       -                   
Amount due to related parties 10 447,747,369       354,049,459       33,713,209         29,715,661     

660,040,092      676,371,975      40,562,662         34,123,558     

Total liabilities 1,634,667,884   1,449,045,356   798,285,776      512,226,079   

Total equity and liabilities 2,013,447,269   1,829,632,344   1,167,814,889   893,958,421   

GROUP COMPANY



INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Audited Audited
2021 2020 2021 2020
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Income 31,748,799    11,172,370  4,991,119    6,557,494     

Administrative expenses (8,408,986)     (9,572,714)   (3,946,293)  (5,058,145)   

Operating profit 23,339,813    1,599,656     1,044,826    1,499,349     

Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property -                  29,200,000  -                     29,200,000  

Finance costs (16,325,289)  (3,572,496)   (4,371,131)  (2,326,835)   

Profit before taxation 7,014,524      27,227,160  (3,326,305)  28,372,514  

Taxation -                  -                 -                     -                     

Profit for the year 7,014,524      27,227,160  (3,326,305)  28,372,514  

Other comprehensive income -                  -                 -                -                 

Total comprehensive income for the year 7,014,524      27,227,160  (3,326,305)  28,372,514  

GROUP COMPANY



INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Audited Audited
2021 2020 2021 2020

Profit/(loss) before tax          7,014,524     27,227,160        (3,326,305) 28,372,514      
Adjustments for:

Fair value gain on revaluation of investment property   (29,200,000)                         -        (29,200,000)

Depreciation                88,596           707,819 
Finance costs        16,325,289       3,572,496          4,371,131          2,326,835 

       23,428,409       2,307,475          1,044,826          1,499,349 
Increase in work-in-progress                         -                        -                           -                           -   
(increase) in other receivables      (16,820,596)       4,985,154        (2,507,928)            (220,351)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables      (71,502,690)     21,308,478          4,707,549             732,989 
Cash used in operations      (64,894,877)     28,601,107          3,244,447          2,011,987 
Income taxes paid  -  -  -  - 
Net cash from operating activities      (64,894,877)     28,601,107          3,244,447          2,011,987 

Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries                         -     (97,141,972)                         -      (100,000,000)

Financing activities
Finance costs      (16,137,250)      (3,193,203)        (4,371,131)        (2,326,835)
Proceeds from issue of Bond     305,000,000                      -       305,000,000                         -   
Proceeds from Borrowings     10,008,416 
Repayments of loans    (150,637,770)                      -        (36,522,323)        (2,541,911)
Amount advanced by related parties        93,697,910                      -            3,997,548          4,924,668 
Amount advanced to related parties    (164,862,353)   (26,667,649)    (272,118,549)                         -   
Increase in share capital                         -       99,990,000                         -          99,990,000 
Net cash from financing activities        67,060,537     80,137,564        (4,014,455)     100,045,922 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents          2,165,660     11,596,699            (770,008)          2,057,909 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year        11,632,629             35,930          2,093,839                35,930 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year        13,798,289     11,632,629          1,323,831          2,093,839 

Operating cash flows before movements in 
working capital

COMPANYGROUP



INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

1 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2021 2020 2021 2020
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Investcorp (Holdings) Ltd 113,000,000         113,000,000        113,000,000       113,000,000      
Ibiza  City (Holding) Ltd 180,500,000         180,500,000        -                       -                       
Ibiza  Properties Ltd 400,000,000         400,000,000        -                       -                       
Ibiza  Investment Ltd 400,000,000         400,000,000        -                       -                       
Bonn Properties Ltd 155,083,333         155,083,333        -                       -                       
HBL Development Ltd 362,400,000         362,400,000        -                       -                       
Eight Sirs Investment Ltd 50,300,000           50,300,000           -                       -                       

1,661,283,333     1,661,283,333     113,000,000      113,000,000      

2 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

GROUP
Total

Rs Rs

Cost
At 1 January 2021 25,390,157           25,390,157         

-                       
At 30 June 2021 25,390,157           25,390,157         

Accumulated Depreciation

At 1 January 2021 20,194,916           20,194,916         
Charge for the period 33,684                   33,684                 

At 31 December 2020 20,228,600           20,228,600         

Net Book Values

At 30 June 2021 5,195,241             5,195,241           

At 31 December 2020 5,161,557             5,161,557           

GROUP COMPANY

Furniture and 
Fittings



INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020 2021 2020
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Bonn Properties Ltd 60,297,445           60,297,445           -                       -                       
Eight Sirs Investment Ltd 32,145,088           32,145,088           -                       -                       

92,442,533           92,442,533           -                       -                       

The above is in line with the recognition of IFRS 16 in respect of Lease land.

4 GOODWILL

Rs
Cost

11,344,649

At 30 June 2021 11,344,649

Impairment losses
Impairment loss for the
period

-

At 30 June 2021 -

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2021 11,344,649

At 31 December 2020 11,344,649

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to CGUs as follows:

Rs

5,469,714

5,874,935

11,344,649

GROUP COMPANY

Acquisition through business combinations

Segment: Office - Bonn Properties Ltd

Segment: Hospitality - Eight Sirs Investment Ltd



INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

5

2021 2020 2021 2020
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Ibiza  City (Holding) Ltd -                          -                         88,699,388         88,699,388        
Ibiza  Properties Ltd -                          -                         183,290,206       183,290,206      
Ibiza  Investment Ltd -                          -                         213,963,622       213,963,622      
Bonn Properties Ltd -                          -                         168,762,083       168,762,083      
HBL Development Ltd -                          -                         35,296,061         35,296,061        
Eight Sirs Investment Ltd -                          -                         66,989,427         66,989,427        

-                          -                         757,000,787      757,000,787      

6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020 2020 2019
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Trade receivable 13,902,157           69,168 165,954               69,168                
Tax deduction at Source 3,189,745             2,230,478             675,527               539,609              
Prepayments 3,444,506             1,066,553             2,131,860           -                       
VAT receivable 27,370,142           27,821,429           143,364               -                       
Other receivables 145,530                 43,858.00             -                       -                       

48,052,080           31,231,486           3,116,705           608,777              

7 AMOUNT DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES

2021 2020 2021 2020
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Supertech Equipment Ltd 5,000,000             5,000,000             5,000,000           5,000,000           
Sotratech Properties Ltd 2,331,459             2,072,488             422,488               422,488              
Hyvec Partners  Ltd -                          -                         3,100,378           1,966,510           
Ibiza Development Ltd 9,320                     9,320                     -                       -                       
Ibiza City Ltd 3,287,580             3,119,072             -                       -                       
Bonn Properties Ltd -                          -                         87,419,360         13,866,020        
Ibiza City Holding Ltd -                          -                         30,781,341         -                       
Hyvec Facilities Management Ltd -                          206,746                -                       -                       
Hyvec Consumer Goods Ltd 359,220                 2,367,600             -                       -                       
Grand Bay Paradise Ltd 526,648                 526,648                -                       -                       
Gleneagles Ltd 3,200,599             3,200,599             -                       -                       
Trocadero Investissement ltee 166,650,000         -                         166,650,000       -                       

181,364,826         16,502,473           293,373,567      21,255,018        

GROUP COMPANY

GROUP COMPANY

GROUP COMPANY

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES



INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

8 BORROWINGS

2021 2020 2021 2020
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Bank Overdrafts -                          -                         -                       -                       
Secured and unsecured loans 383,089,195         533,726,965        -                            36,522,323        

383,089,195         533,726,965        -                       36,522,323        
The bank overdrafts are repayable within one year.

The loans are repaid as follows:

Within one year 177,758,720         215,722,874        -                            2,265,993           
After more than one year 205,330,475         318,004,091        -                            34,256,330        

383,089,195         533,726,965        -                       36,522,323        

9 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 2019 2020 2019
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Trade payables 3,515,998             182,297                1,516,860           
Deposit on rent 3,791,388             -                         793,300               793,300              
Output VAT 1,440,239             1,057,935             -                       8,252                   
Audit fees 2,400,000             2,400,000             600,000               600,000              
TDS 1,581,976             1,613,113             207,929               220,454              
Land transfer tax -                          -                         -                       -                       
Others 44,743                   2,035,048             2,043                   519,898              
PAYE/NPF 171,473                 -                         140,985               -                       
Minority Share buy back 18,000,000           18,000,000           -                       -                       
Customer deposits -                          80,748,300           -                       -                       
Interest payable 3,588,336             -                         3,588,336           -                       

34,534,153           106,036,693        6,849,453           2,141,904           

GROUP COMPANY

GROUP COMPANY



INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

10 AMOUNT DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

2021 2020 2021 2020
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Executive Builders Ltd 2,372,300             2,372,300.00       872,300               872,300              
Cap Horn Investment Ltd 23,168,000           23,168,000.00     114,000               114,000              
Hyvec Partners Ltd 260,346,351         215,404,923.52   26,230,393         26,230,393        
Hyvec Facilities Management Ltd 197,134                 -                         -                       542,089              
Loan from director 113,052,648         90,251,647.52     5,706,880           1,906,880           
Henessy Tower Development Ltd 11,932,452           6,714,104.00       -                       -                       
Jumeirah Investment Ltd 284,522                 284,522.00           -                       -                       
Ibiza Properties Ltd -                          -                         185,000               50,000                
Noodle Express Ltd 165,212                 165,212.00           -                       -                       
Escale Mauricienne Restaurant Ltee 188,750                 188,750.00           -                       -                       
Sotratech Properties Ltd 14,000,000           14,000,000.00     -                       -                       
Hyvec Investment Ltd 1,500,000             1,500,000.00       -                       -                       
HBL Development Ltd -                          -                         604,636               -                       
New Caroline House Ltd 20,540,000           -                         -                       -                       

447,747,369         354,049,459        33,713,209         29,715,661        

11 SUBORDINATED DEBT

2021 2020 2021 2020
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.

Original amount 657,000,787 657,000,787 657,000,787 657,000,787

-204,277,673 -204,277,673 -204,277,673 -213,154,596

Net Present Value 452,723,114 443,846,191 452,723,114 443,846,191

12 POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Onboarding of new tenants
The Company has secured new tenants as follows:

Property Name
Ibiza Investment 
Ltd

Ibiza Properties 
Ltd

GLA rented 1,223 sqm 1,234 sqm

Rental income MUR 6 million p.a
MUR 6.4 million 
p.a

Lease term TBC TBC

Acquisition of new building

The Company has acquired Hennessy Tower Development Ltd, a building comprising 5 floors for a total GLA of 1,770 
sqm based in Port Louis, which is 100% occupied. Hennessy Tower Development Ltd has been valued at MUR 173.95m 
as per the Valuation Report issued by Prime Pillar Valuation Services Limited issued in June 2021.

The subordinated debt amount of Rs657,000,787 represents net amount due to Mr Nawaz Khan Chady, the ultimate 
shareholder for the acquisition of subsidiaries

GROUP COMPANY

Deemed interest credited to Statement of Changes

GROUP COMPANY



INVESTCORP (HOLDINGS) LTD
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

Sister Company
Hyvec Consumer 
Goods Ltd

Hyper Food Ltd

Rental income
MUR 4.8 million 
p.a

MUR 6 million p.a

Term
Until occupancy 
reaches 90%

Until occupancy 
reaches 90 %

Salaries and related costs of the Company have been subsidized by 50% by Hyvec Group since 
January 2021, until occupancy reaches 90 percent 

Assignment of rental income from sister companies

The Company has received an undertaking from two sister companies, wholly owned by the UBO, for assignment of 
rental income until the company reaches an occupancy level of 90 percent, as hereunder:

Subsidization of salaries and related costs


